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The directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements of Credorax Bank Limited 

 for the year ended 31 December 2020. 
 
Principal activity 
 
The principal activity is the provision of integrated acquiring and payment processing services to 
merchants within the EU and two other EEC States, and is also a principal level member with Visa (Europe) 
and MasterCard. During the financial year under review, the Bank continued operating as a credit institution 
under the Banking Act, Cap 371 of the Law of Malta, in accordance with the credit institution license granted 
by the Malta Financial Services Authority. 
 
Review of the business 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Bank exceeded processing volumes 6.7 
billion (2019 4.9 billion 105 million (2019 89 million), whilst an extraordinary 

enabling 
operating income to increase  to 51 million . Other operating expenses 

26 millio 51 million, of which 23 million related in additional support service fees by 
  

 
During 2020, the Bank has continued with its deposit-taking activities from depositors other than its acquiring 
merchant base, through deposit-raising marketplaces. The Bank was able to secure 
million in customer deposits by year-end 61M, which allowed the Bank to grant new credit 
facilities to some of its existing merchants and to commence its investment activities. The persistent low to 
negative interest rates during the year have set considerable pressure on interest margins. 
 

resilient performance by the Bank and its 
financial position are considered satisfactory and the directors expect that the Bank will continue to improve 
its position in the future. 
 
Key performance indicators 
 
The Board of Directors tracks the Bank's progress in implementing its strategy with a range of financial 

budgets and historical performance.  The financial KPIs tracked by the Board of the Bank are presented in 
the following table. 
 

 
 
 
The Board of Directors does not monitor any specific non-financial KPIs. 
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(continued) 

 
Principal risks 
 
Credorax Bank Limited faces a range of business, financial, operational and reputational risks. The directors 
believe that the Bank's most important risks are: (i) credit risk to the extent that the card schemes of which 
it is a member may chargeback credit card purchases; (ii) settlement risk whereby the Bank fails to settle 
with merchants due to lack of availability of funds as a result of settlement failure by the correspondent bank 
where merchant funds are held; and (iii) reputational risk. 
 
Accordingly, the Bank adopts a robust risk management approach to understand what its risks are, how 
much risk is acceptable and to manage its risks. Such approach aims to create value for shareholders while 
meeting regulatory requirements and ensuring that stakeholders are protected without compromising 
integrity, ethical behaviour and transparency.  
 

operate together as an integrated whole including: (1) a robust risk identification and risk assessment 
embedding 

objectives within policy documents and procedures; and (4) quantifying the residual risk to which the Bank 
is exposed. 
 

practices is deemed vital by the Directors to the overall effectiveness of this framework. It requires the 
consider actively the ways in which they act 

 
 
In this context, the Bank has adopted a sound corporate governance framework, which consists of three 
key functions: the Board, the entity-wide risk management function, and the independent assessment of 
risk governance that enables the Bank to create and sustain stakeholder value. 
 

, financial 
position and financial performance
financial risk management objectives and policies, and its exposure to credit risk, market risk, and liquidity 
risk. 
 
Dividends and reserves 
 
During the year, the Bank did not declare any dividend (2019: 13,000,000). The directors do not 
recommend the payment of a final dividend.  
 
The directors propose that the balance of retained earnings amounting to 11,621,092 (2019 10,932,928) 
be carried forward to the next financial year.  
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(continued) 

 
COVID-19 trading update 
 
The COVID-19 global pandemic was one of the defining events of 2020 and its implications are set to last 
well into the foreseeable years. Since the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic, consumers across the world 
have become increasingly reliant on eCommerce. Combined with widespread restrictions of social 
distancing and stay-at-home instructions, the pandemic has accelerated the adoption of eCommerce 
virtually overnight by consumers turning to contactless shopping often out of necessity, and businesses 
rapidly shifting their activities online to keep operating. The turn to eCommerce has also led to a surge in 
digital and cashless payments creating significant opportunities for business models powered by emerging 
technology. 
 
In this context, well-positioned to capitalize on opportunities arising from the unprecedented conditions of 
this pandemic, 2020 was an exceptionally strong year for Credorax Bank, a year in which the Bank emerged 
stronger and proved its resilience to weather such a unique global macroeconomic stress event. 
 
Operationally, the Bank managed the impact of COVID-19 with minimal disruption, which success was 
directly attributable to its robust technological infrastructure based on cloud technology and the commitment 
of its people. The Bank has smoothly and instantly switched to remote working, mobilizing over 100 
employees for their safety, while staying in close contact with its merchant, customers and service providers 
in order to mitigate any adverse financial or operational impacts. This has made it possible to continue as 
business as usual throughout this global crisis.   
 
Despite the widespread macroeconomic disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic during the year, 
the Bank achieved record processing volumes and revenues, with processing volumes and revenues 
growing by 38% and 18% respectively over 2019, a growth which was primarily driven by the strength of 

which is predominantly focused on eCommerce (card-not-present) transactions 
and its merchant base diversification. As aforementioned, this pandemic not only nourished eCommerce-
based business models short-term benefits until the virus is contained, but these models are poised to 
benefit from an expected overall shift to online shopping that is meant to endure well after the pandemic 
subsides. -diversified portfolio of merchants 
operating in various industries and geographies, which have provided sufficient comfort to absorb the 
temporary losses sustained from severely hit sectors. In fact, despite the travel vertical being negatively 
affected by the market disruptions and travel restrictions as a result of the crisis, the Bank saw considerable 
growth in all the other main verticals including currency trading platforms, online retail and service providers, 
gambling and online content operators, verticals which have all benefitted from changes in consumer 
behaviour and which have more than compensated for the temporary losses in processing from travel. 
  
As at date of writing, COVID-19 vaccination has started but is progressing slower than initially hoped for. In 
addition, new mutations of COVID-19 have raised some concerns and led to tighter restrictions. While this 

business model, consistent track record, and its strong balance sheet and liquidity position, the Board of 
Directors remains confi
pandemic and provide best service to its merchants, whilst also benefiting from future opportunities that this 
pandemic will leave in the future. 
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 (continued) 

 
Directors 
 
The directors of the Bank who held office during the year were: 
 

Binyamin Nachman 
Frederick Ellul  
Nathan Shaked  
Igal Rotem  
David Blumberg  
Tonio Fenech  
Anthony Depasquale  
Aviram Shemer 
Joshua Floum  resigned on 23 April 2020 
 

are otherwise removed from office.  
 
Ultimate shareholders holding five per cent or more of the share capital of the Bank are as follows: 
 

 
 
 

 
 
The directors are required by the Maltese Banking Act, 1994 and the Maltese Companies Act, 1995 to 
prepare financial statements that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Bank as at the end of 
each reporting period and of the profit or loss for that period. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for: 
 

 ensuring that the financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU; 

 selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; 
 making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; and ensuring that the 

financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Bank will continue in business as a going concern. 

 
The directors are also responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and that comply with the Maltese Banking Act, 1994 and the 
Maltese Companies Act, 1995.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Bank and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
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(continued) 

 
The financial statements of Credorax Bank Limited for the year ended 31 December 2020 are included in 
the Annual Report 2020, which is published in hard-copy printed form and will be made available on the 

 The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Annual Report on 
the website in view of their responsibility for the controls over, and the security of, the website.  Access to 

legislation governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from requirements 
or practice in Malta. 
 
Auditors  
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution for their re-
appointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting. 
 
 
On behalf of the board 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Igal Rotem                  Aviram Shemer 
Director                   Director 
 
80, Palazzo Homedes 
Strait Street 
Valletta 
VLT 1436 
 
27 April 2021 
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To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited 
 

Report on the audit of the financial statements  

Our opinion  
 
In our opinion: 
 

 The financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Credorax Bank Limited 

then ended in accordance with International Financial R
EU; and 

 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese 
Companies Act (Cap. 386) and the Maltese Banking Act (Cap. 371). 

 
Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee. 
 

What we have audited 
 

6 to 66, comprise: 
 

 the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020; 

 the income statement for the year then ended; 

 the statement of other comprehensive income for the year then ended; 

 the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; 

 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and 

 the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.  

 

Basis for opinion  
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  
 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.  
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I  - continued  
To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited 

 
Independence 
 

We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements of the Accountancy 
Profession (Code of Ethics for Warrant Holders) Directive issued in terms of the Accountancy Profession 
Act (Cap. 281) that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Malta. We have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these Codes.  
 
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services that we have provided to the 
Bank are in accordance with the applicable law and regulations in Malta and that we have not provided non-
audit services that are prohibited under Article 18A of the Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281). 
 
The non-audit services that we have provided to the Bank, in the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 
2020, are disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements. 

 
Our audit approach 
 

Overview 
 

 

 
approximately 1% of total acquiring revenues. 

 Fee and commission income and settlement processing obligations. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Materiality 

Audit 
scope 

Key audit 
matters 
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I  - continued  
To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited 
 
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material 
misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, we considered where the directors made 
subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making 
assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also 
addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters 
consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement 
due to fraud. 
 
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion 
on the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Bank, the accounting 
processes and controls, and the industry in which the Bank operates. 
 
Materiality 
 

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements 
may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial 
statements. 
 
Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, 
including the overall materiality for the financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, 
together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, 
timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and 
in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole. 
 

Overall materiality  

How we determined it Approximately 1% of total acquiring revenues 

Rationale for the 
materiality benchmark 
applied 

We chose total acquiring revenues as the benchmark because, in 
our view, it is a key financial statement metric used in assessing 
the performance of the Bank and is not as volatile as other profit 
and loss measures. We chose 1% based on our professional 
judgement, noting that it is also within the range of   revenue 
related thresholds that we consider acceptable. 

 
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our 

for qualitative reasons. 
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 - continued  
To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited 
 
Key audit matters  
 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the Key audit matter 

Fee and commission income and settlement 
processing obligations 

Fee and commission income is recognised 
based on the nature, number and value of 
transactions processed and the rates agreed 
with merchants, while settlement processing 
obligations are recognised on the basis of 
payment volumes processed, the income 
attributable to the Bank as well as the 
settlement cycle (time taken to receive cash 
from card schemes, and remit it to merchants) 
and collateral reserves agreed by the Bank with 
merchants. 
 
Payment transaction details, upon which fee 
and commission income and settlement 
processing obligations are determined, are 

acquiring platforms. This calculation is complex 
given the extent of automation and the high 
volume of business.  
 
There is a risk that the systems may not be 
configured correctly from the outset such that 
revenues and settlement amounts are 
calculated incorrectly, that data does not 
correctly flow through the operational IT 
systems, and that unauthorised changes may be 
made to any of these systems, which may result 
in the misstatement of revenue and settlement 
balances. 
 
There is also the risk that transaction fee and 
settlement details are not recorded accurately, 
i.e. as stipulated within the merchant 
agreements. 
  

 

 

We assessed and tested the design and operating 
effectiveness of the controls over the calculation of fee 
and commission income and settlement processing 
obligations.  This included testing general IT controls 
relating to access to programs and data, program 
changes, program development, and computer 
operations in order to address the risk of 
unauthorised changes being made to the operation of 
IT application controls. 

 
We also tested the operating effectiveness of the 
automated calculation of fees and commissions 
charged to merchants as well as the effectiveness of the 
controls over the reconciliation of gateway 
submissions, card scheme incoming and outgoing files 
and merchant 
platform. We have also tested the controls that are in 
place to verify that merchant payments made through 
different payment channels are accurate.    

 

In addition, we performed detailed testing in relation 
to fee and commission income on a sample basis by 

back to source data.  This included agreeing merchant 
related standing data (such as rates and settlement 
cycle details) to merchant contracts (and contracts 
addendums) to ensure that the appropriate inputs are 
assigned to each merchant in the system based on 
signed contractual terms. 
 
We tested the reconciliation between the balances held 
with other banks attributable to merchants and 
balances that are expected to be recovered from card 
schemes to the settlement processing obligations 
including those that are not recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 
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 - continued  
To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited 

 
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the Key audit matter 

We focused on fee and commission income and 
settlement processing obligations due to the 
complexities involved in the respective 
calculations. 
 
Relevant references in the Annual Report and 
Financial Statements: 
Accounting policy: Note 1.16; 
Note on fee and commission income: Note 26; 
and 
Note on settlement processing obligations: 
Note 20. 

 

 

 

We agreed funds that are expected to be recovered 
from card schemes as at 31 December 2020 to receipts 
after year-end, loans and advances to banks 
attributable to merchants, and to third-party 
confirmations and third-party reports. We also tested, 
on a sample basis, merchants' settlement processing 
obligation balances to supporting documentation. 
 
We have also reviewed merchant complaints relating 
to merchant balances and payments. 
 

and the detailed testing that we carried out gave us 
sufficient evidence to enable us to conclude that the 

processing obligations balance are reasonable and 
appropriate.  
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 - continued  
To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited 

 

Other information 
 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

report thereon). 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon except as explicitly stated within the Report on other 
legal and regulatory requirements. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 

Responsibilities of the directors and those charged with governance for the financial 
statements 
 

The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the requirements of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386) 
and the Maltese Banking Act (Cap. 371), and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for asses
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  
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 - continued  
To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited 
 

responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
port that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  

 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to dra
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee 

potential implications that COVID-19 will hav
disruption to its business and the overall economy.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to 
eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 
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 - continued  

To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited 
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matter
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements  
 
The Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020 contains other areas required by legislation or 
regulation on which we are required to report.  The Directors are responsible for these other areas. 
 
The table below sets out these areas presented within the Annual Report, our related responsibilities 
and reporting, in addition to our responsibilities and reporting reflected in the Other information 
section of our report. Except as outlined in the table, we have not provided an audit opinion or any form 
of assurance.  
 

Area of the Annual 
Report and Financial 
Statements 2020 and 

responsibilities 

Our responsibilities Our reporting 

 

(on pages 1 to 5)  

The Maltese Companies 
Act (Cap. 386) requires 
the directors to prepare a 

, which 
includes the contents 
required by Article 177 of 
the Act and the Sixth 
Schedule to the Act. 

We are required to consider 
whether the information given 

for the 
financial year for which the 
financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements. 

We are also required to express 
an opinion as to whether the 

prepared in accordance with the 
applicable legal requirements.  
 

In addition, we are required to 
state whether, in the light of the 
knowledge and understanding 
of the  Bank and its 
environment obtained in the 
course of our audit, we have 
identified any material 

report, and if so to give an 
indication of the nature of any 
such misstatements. 

In our opinion:  

 the information given in the 
D
financial year for which the 
financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with 
the financial statements; 
and 

 the 
been prepared in 
accordance with the 
Maltese Companies Act 
(Cap. 386). 

 

We have nothing to report to 
you in respect of the other 
responsibilities, as explicitly 
stated within the Other 
information section. 

 



 
 
  
 
 

14 
 

 - continued  
To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited 

 
Area of the Annual Report 
and Financial Statements 
2020 and the related 

 

Our responsibilities Our reporting 

 Other matters prescribed 
by the Maltese Banking Act 
(Cap. 371)  

In terms of the requirements of 
the Maltese Banking Act (Cap. 
371), we are also required to 
report whether:   

 we have obtained all the 
information and explanations 
which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were 
necessary for the purpose of our 
audit; 

 proper books of account 
have been kept by the bank, so 
far as appears from our 
examination of those books;  

 the 
statements are in agreement 
with the books of account; 

 in our opinion, and to the 
best of our knowledge and 
according to the explanations 
given to us, the financial 
statements give the information 
required by any law which may 
from time to time be in force in 
the manner so required. 

In our opinion: 

 we have obtained all the 
information and explanations 
which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were 
necessary for the purpose of 
our audit; 

 proper books of account have 
been kept by the bank, so far 
as appears from our 
examination of those books; 

 
statements are in agreement 
with the books of account; 
and 

 to the best of our knowledge 
and according to the 
explanations given to us, the 
financial statements give the 
information required by any 
law in force in the manner so 
required. 

 

 Other matters on which we 
are required to report by 
exception  

We also have responsibilities 
under the Maltese Companies 
Act (Cap. 386) to report to you if, 
in our opinion adequate 
accounting records have not 
been kept, or returns adequate 
for our audit have not been 
received from branches not 
visited by us.  

We have nothing to report 
to you in respect of these 
responsibilities. 
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- continued
To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited 

Other matter  use of this report 

Our report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and 
accordance with Article 179 of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386) and for no other purpose. We do not, 
in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to 
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior 
written consent. 

Appointment 

We were first appointed as auditors of the Bank on 12 February 2010 for the year ended 31 December 2009. 
Our appointment has been renewed annually by shareholder resolution representing a total period of 
uninterrupted engagement appointment of 12 years. The Bank became licensed as credit institution in 
terms of the Maltese Banking Act (Cap. 371) on 9 June 2015. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 
78, Mill Street 
Zone 5, Central Business District 
Qormi 
Malta 

Lucienne Pace Ross 
Partner 

27 April 2021 
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Statement of financial position  
 

 
 
The notes on pages 21 to 66 are an integral part of these financial statements. The financial statements on 
pages 16 to 66 were authorised for issue by the board on 27 April 2021 and were signed on its behalf by: 
 

 
 

 
 
Igal Rotem                        Aviram Shemer 
Director        Director 
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Income statement 
 

 
 
 
The notes on pages 21 to 66 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of other comprehensive income 
 

 
 
The notes on pages 21 to 66 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of changes in equity 
 

 
 
The notes on pages 21 to 66 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of cash flows 

Year ended 31 December
2020 2019

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest received 711,729       607,934       
Interest paid (632,283)      (57,402)        
Fees and commission received 120,638,214 99,262,149   

Fees and commission paid (71,956,806)  (64,888,397)  
Payments to employees and suppliers (12,207,088)  (9,261,928)    

Cash flows from operating activities before changes 
in operating assets and liabilities

36,553,766   25,662,356   

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:

Loans and advance to customers (6,691,967)    (930,741)      
Funds advanced under collateral arrangements (6,156,624)    (7,198,776)    

Funds receivable from merchants 1,281,884     (2,501,436)    
Other assets:

Advances to group undertakings (41,491,485)  (30,254,508)  

Repayments from group undertakings 621,502       2,290,017     
Other advances 330,437       937,706       

Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:

Amounts owed to customers 50,341,960   5,412,533     
Settlement processing obligations 5,616,258     (5,799,419)    
Other liabilities (1,276,635)    (638,834)      

Cash (used in) / generated from operations 39,129,096   (13,021,102)  
Tax paid -              (2,778,734)    

Net cash generated from / (used in) operating activities 39,129,096   (15,799,836)  

Cash Flows used in investing activities

Dividends received 61,541         52,970         
Purchase of debt instruments (20,462,700)  -              
Proceeds from maturity of debt instruments 136,649       -              

Proceeds from the sale of USD Visa Inc. Class A Common Stock 7,338,004     -              
Proceeds from maturity of fixed term placement -              7,721,657     
Purchase of equipment (129,520)      (53,624)        

Proceeds from disposal of equipment -              3,960           
Purchase of intangible assets (228,483)      (86,232)        
Cash consideration received from Visa Inc. -              1,435,624     

Net cash used in investing activities (13,284,509)  9,074,355     

Cash Flows used in financing activities 

Repayments of lease liability (226,395)      (245,757)      

Net cash from financing activities (226,395)      (245,757)      

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents 25,618,192   (6,971,238)    

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 72,185,172   79,156,410   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (Note 34) 97,803,364   72,185,172   
 

 

The notes on pages 21 to 66 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Notes to the financial statements  
 
1. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated. 
 
1.1 Basis of preparation 
 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and with the requirements 
of the Banking Act, 1994 and the Maltese Companies Act, 1995.  These financial statements are 
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the fair valuation of investments 
measured at fair value through profit or loss or through other comprehensive income.  
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU requires the 
use of certain accounting estimates.  It also requires the directors to exercise their judgment in the 

e Note 3  Critical accounting estimates, and 
judgments in applying accounting policies).  
 
1.1.1 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2020 
 
In 2020, the Bank adopted, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are mandatory 
for the Bank 2020.  The adoption of these revisions to 
the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU did not result in substantial 
accounting policies. 
 
1.1.2 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet 
effective 
 
Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published 
by the date of authorisation for issue of these financial statements but are mandatory for accounting 
period beginning after 1 January 2020. The Bank has not early adopted these revisions to the 

he opinion that there 

the period of initial application. 
 
1.2 Foreign currency translation 
 
(a)  Functional and presentation currency 
 
Items included in these financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary 

d presentation currency.  
 

(b)  Transactions and balances 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured.  Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the profit or loss. 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.3 Financial assets 
 
1.3.1 Initial recognition  
 
The Bank recognises a financial asset in its statement of financial position when it becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets 
are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Bank commits to purchase or sell 
the asset. Accordingly, the Bank uses trade date accounting for regular way contracts when 
recording financial asset transactions.  

 
At initial recognition, the Bank measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a 
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are incremental and 
directly attributable to its acquisition of the financial asset.  Transaction costs of financial assets 
carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss immediately.  Immediately 
after initial recognition, an Expected Credit Loss allowance (ECL) is recognised for financial assets 
measured at amortised cost, which results in accounting loss being recognised in profit or loss when 
an asset is newly originated. 
 
1.3.2 Classification and measurement 
 
On initial recognition the Bank classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 
(a) amortised cost; (b) fair value through profit or loss (FVPL); or (c) fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI).  The classification varies depending on whether the financial asset 
is a debt or an equity instrument. 
 
Debt instruments 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on: 

  
 The cash flow characteristic of the asset. 

 
Based on these factors, the Bank classifies its debt instruments into one of the following two 
measurement categories. 
 
Amortised cost: Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if they meet both the following 
conditions and are not designated as at FVPL: 
- the assets are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 

cash flows; and  
- their contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and inte  
 
The carrying amount of these financial assets is adjusted by an expected credit loss allowance 
recognised and measured as described in 1.3.3. Interest income from these financial assets is 

 
 
Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are held for collection 
of contractual cash flows and for selling t
payments of principal and interest, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI).  
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.3 Financial assets (continued) 
 
1.3.2 Classification and measurement (continued) 
 
Debt instruments (continued) 
 
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment 
gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses which are all recognised in 
profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously 

disposal of finan

method. 
 
Business model assessment. The business model reflects how the Bank manages the assets in 
order to generate cash flows, whether the objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows 
from the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale 
of assets.  If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then 

considered by the Bank in determining the business model for a group of assets include past 

 
 
Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI).  
Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows, the Bank assesses 

In 
making this assessment, the Bank considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with 
a basic lending arrangement, i.e. interest includes only the time value of money, credit risk, other 
basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where 
the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending 
arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at FVPL.  For the purposes of 

with the outstanding principal and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and 
administrative costs), as well as profit margin.  
 
Debt instruments are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition.  The reclassification takes 
place from the start of the first reporting period following the change.  Such changes are expected to 
be very infrequent and none occurred during the period. 
 
Equity instruments  
 

subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or loss.  The Bank does not 
elect, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate equity investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.3 Financial assets (continued) 
 
1.3.3 Impairment of amortised cost and FVOCI financial assets 
 
The Bank recognises loss allowances for ECL on financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt 
instruments measured at FVOCI and certain loan commitments.  
 

-
recognition as summarised below: 
 A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initi

has its credit risk continuously monitored by the Bank. At initial recognition, an impairment 
allowance (or provision) is required for ECLs resulting from default events that are possible within 
the next 12 mon -  

 
-impaired. An allowance (or 

provision) is required for ECL resulting from all possible default events over the expected life of 
 

 If the financial instrument is credit-
Assets in Stage 3 also carry a lifetime ECL allowance or provision. 

 

 
 
Significant increase in credit risk (SICR) 
 

Bank of Malta, loans and advances to banks and financial institutions, funds advanced under 
collateral arrangements and debt securities, the majority of whi

 The other financial assets within 
these categories of assets that are considered by the Bank to be financial assets 

 This consideration is 
made in the light of the fact that all obligors within these categories are considered by the Bank to 
have a strong capacity to meet their obligations, and that adverse changes in economic conditions 
should not reduce their ability to fulfil obligations.  This includes funds receivable from merchants, 
which in substance represent funds receivable from card schemes, which attract strong credit ratings.  
 
The Bank assumes that the credit risk on these financial assets has not increased significantly since 
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk, within the meaning 
of paragraph 5.5.10 of IFRS 9, at the reporting date.  If, on the other hand, these financial assets 
suffer a significant increase in credit risk, for example following a downgrade to below investment 
grade, the financial instrument will be re-classified as a Stage 2 exposure. This will impact the 
measurement of the loss allowance, moving from a 12-month ECL assumption to a lifetime ECL 
assumption.   
 

requires expected 
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.3 Financial assets (continued) 
 
1.3.3 Impairment of amortised cost financial assets (continued) 
 
In respect of loans and advances to customers, an assessment of whether credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition is performed at each reporting period by considering the change 
in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument. The assessment 
compares the risk of default occurring at the reporting date compared with that at initial recognition, 
taking into account reasonable and supportable information, including information about past events, 
current conditions and future economic conditions.  The Bank typically considers that a loan or 
advance to a customer has experienced a significant increase in credit risk when one or more of the 
following criteria have been met: 
 
 Actual or expected forbearance or restructuring 
 Actual or expected significant adverse change in operating results of the borrower 
 Early signs of cashflow/liquidity problems such as delay in servicing of trade creditors/loans. 

 
Further, unless identified at an earlier stage, all financial assets are deemed to have suffered a 
significant increase in credit risk when 30 days past due. 
 
Definition of default and credit impaired assets 
 
The Bank determines that a financial instrument is credit impaired and in Stage 3 by considering 
relevant objective evidence, primarily when there are indications that the obligor is unlikely to pay. If 
such unlikeliness to pay is not identified at an earlier stage, it is deemed to occur when an exposure 
is 90 days past due. 
 

 
 

gross transaction amounts due from merchants that arise from chargebacks raised by cardholders, 
 

 
The Bank monitors the Net Expected Exposure, an internal metric to assess chargeback 
performance and hence potential future risk of losses vis-à-vis collateral held. Receivables from 
merchants arising as a result of chargeback transactions exceeding merchant reserves are 
considered originated credit impaired. Lifetime ECL is recognised in profit or loss until such 
exposures are derecognised.  
 
Write-off  
 
The Bank writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery 
efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. In addition, the Bank has 
a write-off policy for the designation and writing off irrecoverable amounts with respect to merchant 
balances. The objective is to ensure timely and accurate write-off of negative merchant balances in 
the period in which the balances are reasonably determined as uncollectable and after all avenues 
to collect the amounts due have failed.  
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.3 Financial assets (continued) 
 
1.3.3 Impairment of amortised cost financial assets (continued) 

 
Measurement of ECL  

 
-month (12M) or Lifetime basis 

depending on whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or 
whether an asset is considered to be credit-impaired. Expected credit losses are the discounted 

 
 

 The PDs estimates are estimates at date of calculating ECL allowances. In the absence of 
sufficient internal historical default data, in order to estimate its PDs, the Bank makes 
reference to external information published by Moody . More specifically, the Bank assigns 
a PD to each of its exposures on the basis of the credit rating of the counterparty or issuer, 

 
 

by reference to external 
ratings of comparable financial assets.  The Bank assigns a 1-year default rate to all 
exposures deemed to have low credit risk, and for very short term financial assets, the 1 
year default rate is scaled down to estimate a PD over a one or two day horizon, dependable 
on the said exposure.  This is consistent within the meaning of paragraph 5.5.10 of IFRS 9, 
at the reporting date.   
 

Receivables from merchants, from group undertakings 
advances to customers are calibrated on the same basis.  Receivables from merchants 
typically have a contractual life which is lower than 12 months, usually a few days.  In respect 
of receivables for group undertakings, the Bank  credit risk management actions are taken 
no less frequently than on an annual basis and therefore the life in respect of receivables 
from group undertakings is also considered to be no longer than 12 months.   
 
For loans and advances to customers with a contractual and/or expected life that is beyond 
12 months, a Lifetime PD is developed by determining marginal PDs and reflecting such PDs 
within the maturity profile of the financial instrument using the 12M PD referred to above as 
the starting point.  This is relevant for loans and advances to customers within the Stage 2 
category, i.e. those that would have experienced an SICR event. 
 
A 100% probability of default is assign   In the case 
of chargebacks raised by cardholders, that exceed funds withheld by the Bank from 
merchants to serve as collateral, expected credit losses of the same amount are held. Such 

 
 

 EAD is based on the amounts the Bank expects to be owed at the time of default, over the 

al assets, since they are of a short-term nature, the 12M EAD and 
Lifetime EAD are equivalent.  

 
 

estimating LGD, the Bank refers to the historical recovery rates publis  
Calibration is performed in the same manner as described for PD estimates above.  In the 
case of receivables from merchants arising as a result of chargeback transactions a 100% 
LGD is assumed. 

 
The ECL is calculated as a factor of the 12-month PD, LGD and EAD.  
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.3 Financial assets (continued) 
 
1.3.3 Impairment of amortised cost financial assets (continued) 
 
In this respect, the recognition of ECL should incorporate forward-looking information. However, 
since the average duration of the instruments in scope are short-term, principally within one year 
and the majority of which within a few days of the reporting period, no forward-looking elements are 
included within the  expected credit loss model.  

 
Presentation of ECL in statement of financial position 
 
For financial assets that are measured at amortised cost, the ECL allowance is presented against 
the carrying amount of the assets on the balance sheet, thereby reducing the carrying amount. 
 
1.3.4 Derecognition 
 
The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the 
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Bank has transferred substantially all 
risks and rewards of ownership or the Bank has not retained control of the asset.  
 
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and 
the consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.  
 
The Bank is involved in transactions whereby it retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows 
from assets but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to other entities and 

esult in derecognition if the Bank: 
(i) has no obligation to make payments unless it collects equivalent amounts from the assets; 
(ii) is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and 
(iii) has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the assets without material delay. 

 
1.4 Derivative financial instruments  
 
Derivative financial instruments, including currency forwards, are initially recognised at fair value on 
the date on which a derivative contract is entered into, and are subsequently re-measured at their 
fair value. Fair values for currency forwards are determined using forward exchange market rates at 
the end of the reporting period. Discounting techniques, reflecting the fact that the respective 
exchange or settlement will not occur until a future date, are used when the time value of money has 
a significant effect on the fair valuation of these instruments. Changes in the fair value of any 
derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in profit 

 
 

1.5 Intangible assets 
 
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire 
and bring to use the specific software. Costs associated with maintaining computer software 
programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. 
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1.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.5 Intangible assets (continued) 

 
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique 
software products controlled by the Bank are recognised as intangible assets when the following 
criteria are met: 
 

 it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use; 
 management intends to complete the software product and use it; 
 there is an ability to use the software product; 
 it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic 

benefits; 
 adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use the 

software product are available; and 
 the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably 

measured. 
 
Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product include the software 
development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. 
 
Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as 
incurred.  Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset 
in a subsequent period. 
 
Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated 
useful lives, which does not exceed five years. 
 
At the end of each reporting period, intangible assets are reviewed for indicators of impairment or 
changes in estimated future economic benefits (see Note 1.8). If such indicators exist, the intangible 
assets are analysed to assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable. 
 
1.6 Property and equipment  
 
All property and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
 
Subsequent costs 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognised.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the 
financial period in which they are incurred. 
 
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the assets to their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:  
          % 
Leasehold improvements 
Fixtures and fittings and office furniture 
Computer and electronic equipment 

         20 
   10  20 
   17  20  

 
residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 

ts estimated recoverable amount.  Gains and 
losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with carrying amount and are 
recognised in profit or loss. 
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1.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.7 Leases  
 
The Bank is the lessee 
 
At the inception of a contract, the Bank assesses if the contract is or contains a lease and hence 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration.  
 
Lease liabilities arising from such contracts are measured at the present value of the remaining lease 

would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value in a similar 
economic environment with similar terms and conditions. 
 
The Bank measures the associated right-of-use assets at an amount equal to the lease liability at 
the date at which the leased asset is made available for use.   
 
Lease payments are allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to 
profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant period rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability. 
 
The right-of-use assets are subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of 
the lease term. 
 
Reassessment is required when the terms and conditions of a contract are changed.  Lease liabilities 
are remeasured when: 
 
- There are changes in future lease payments arising from changes in an index or rate;  
-  
- There are modification in the scope or the consideration of the lease that was not part of the 

original term.  
 
Lease liabilities are remeasured with a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use assets, or an 
adjustment in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero 
and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease liability. 
 
The Bank elects not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low value leases or 
leases with a term shorter than 12 months. Lease payments relating to these leases are expensed 
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

 
1.8 Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 

use.  For 
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). The impairment test can also be performed 
on a single asset when the fair value less cost to sell or the value in use can be determined reliably. 
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1.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.9 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, 
deposits held at call with banks and items in course of collection from other banks.  
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and all liquid investments with an initial maturity of 
three months or less when purchased. These amounts also include cash that the Bank holds related 
to reserve funds collected from merchants that serve as collateral to minimise contingent liabilities 
associated with any losses that may occur under the merchant agreement. The Bank records a 
corresponding liability in settlement processing obligations in the statement of financial position. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents also include settlement related cash balances. Settlement related cash 
balances represent surplus funds that the Bank holds when the incoming amount from the card 
networks precedes the funding obligation to the merchant.  

 
1.10 Share capital 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets.  
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of an equity instrument are deducted from the 
initial measurement of the equity instruments. 
 
1.11 Financial liabilities  
 
The Bank recognises a financial liability on its statement of financial position when it becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
 
Financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially at fair value, being 
the fair value of consideration received, net of transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or the issue of the financial liability. These liabilities are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. The Bank derecognises a financial liability from 
its statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract or arrangement is 
discharged, is cancelled or expires.  
 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise principally amounts owed to customers and 
settlement processing obligations. Settlement processing obligations represent transactions that 
have been processed but not yet funded together with funds withheld from merchants that serve as 
collateral to minimise contingent liabilities associated with any losses that may occur under the 

 
 
1.12 Offsetting financial instruments  
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Bank has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 
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1.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

  
 1.13 Current and deferred tax  

 
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or 
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity.  In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  However, 
deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have 
been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply 
when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred assets and liabilities relate to income 
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable 
entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 
 
The Bank forms part of a Fiscal Unit for Maltese income tax purposes in terms of the Maltese 
Consolidated Group (Income Tax) Rules.  Under the terms of these rules and a tax sharing and 
funding agreement entered into by the Bank with its parent company and another wholly owned Malta 

ies are recognised as 
receivables from or payables to the parent company. 
 
Deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax credits are also recognised as receivables 
from the parent company to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available to 
the Fiscal Unit against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 
 
Conversely, deferred tax in respect of other temporary differences do not represent receivables from 
or payables to the parent. 
 
1.14 Share based compensation 
 

exchange for their services. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the 
grant of share options is recognised as an expense in profit or loss and as a corresponding increase 

 Upon vesting, Credorax Inc. 
recharges to the Bank the grant-date fair value of the share options. The recharge is derecognised 

recognised by the Bank as a liability to the parent.      
 

The total amount to be expensed from grant date over the vesting period is determined by reference 
to the fair value of the options granted at the grant date. Total compensation expense is recognised 
from grant-date over the vesting period (the period during which an employee is required to provide 
service in exchange for the benefit or the requisite service period) rateably through graded vesting.  
Accordingly, the Bank amortises the compensation cost arising on the grant of share options over 
the nominal vesting period for employees based on the graded vesting of the plan.  
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1.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.14 Share based compensation (continued) 
 
At the end of each reporting period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are 
expected to be vested. It recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in profit 
or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 
 
1.15 Provisions for legal proceeding and future chargebacks  
 
Provisions are recognised when it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required 
to settle a current legal or constructive obligation which has arisen as a result of past events, and for 
which a reliable estimate can be made. 
 
1.16 Revenue recognition 
 

merchants for services provided. This includes acquiring revenues, other fees charged on a per 
transaction basis, income from foreign exchange services and interest.   
 
Acquiring revenues relate to services provided to process transactions between the card-issuing 

processed  acquiring platform and is recognised per transaction. Acquiring revenue also 
includes the amount of interchange fees and scheme fees.  The Bank is considered a principal for 
the acquiring services it provides to the merchants, accordingly, such revenues are reported using 
the gross presentation.   
 
Income from foreign exchange services is generated on settling foreign currency transactions on 

 relation to the transaction 
is fulfilled. 
 
Given the nature of its transaction-based business,  revenues are recognised when the 
services are provided at the point in time when the transaction takes place, since there are no further 
performance obligations following the processing of transactions. The Bank does not provide any 
services which are rendered over a period of time. 
 
Costs of sales which primarily consist of fees charged by card schemes as well as interchange fees, 
are matched to the revenue generated and are recognised when incurred. 
 
Net fee and commission income is revenue after deducting scheme fees, interchange fees and sales 

the financial effects of the activities in which the Bank engages.   
 
The Bank does not have any contracts for the provision of services that result in the initial recognition 
of contract assets or contract liabilities. 

 
1.17 Dividend distribution 
 

en paid. 
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2. Financial risk management 
 
 2.1 Introduction 
 

The Bank
risk, specifically foreign exchange risk, and liquidity risk.  Accordingly, the directors provide principles 
for overall risk management as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange 
risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity.   

 

risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-
to-date information systems.  

 

position of the Bank and is also responsible for the management of funding and liquidity risks. The 
Bank

strategy and the implementation of risk principles, framework, policies and related limits.   
 
2020 has been characterised by unprecedented economic conditions resulting from the outbreak of 
the COVID-19 pandemic, which however, has accelerated ecommerce worldwide, ensuing a surge 
in digital payments and as a result, a record year in terms of processing volumes and revenues for 
the Bank, and also a year of no financial loss resulting for example from the default of merchants.  
 
This outcome is expected to continue over the foreseeable future and accordingly, other than for 
merchants operating in the travel sector, the Bank saw and continues to see considerable growth 
opportunities which far exceed the risks presented by the pandemic. 
 
In the meantime, the Bank has continued to support the merchants experiencing challenges, 
particularly those operating within the travel sector, by for example facilitating refunds to customers 
to ensure that the burden to chargeback costs on these merchants are kept to a minimum. 

  
 2.2 Credit risk 
 
 2.2.1 Introduction 
 
 Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur losses as a result of a counterparty failing to fulfil its 

contractual obligations to the Bank. Credit risk arises from which are 
inherently and predominantly subject to credit risk. 
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2. Financial risk management 

 
 2.2 Credit risk (continued) 
 
 2.2.1 Introduction (continued) 
 

 2.2.2 Maximum exposure to credit risk 
 

The following table presents the maximum exposure to credit risk from balance sheet and off-balance 
sheet financial instrument, before taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements. 
For financial assets recognised on the statement of financial position, the maximum exposure to 
credit risk equals their carrying amount. For loan commitments, it is generally the full amount of the 
committed facilities. 

 

 
 
 

102,549 (2019: 
allowances for expected credit losses of the same amount is held. 
 
Credit risk mitigation practices are in place in respect of loans and advances to customers in the form 
of reserves, merchant funds, funds pursuant to a funding delay or other retained funds which serve 
as a security against such exposures. As at 31 December 2020, the Bank retained  (2019: 
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2. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
 2.2 Credit risk (continued) 
 

2.2.3 Concentration of credit risk exposure 
 
Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties or exposures have comparable 
economic characteristics, or such counterparties are engaged in similar activities, or operate in the 
same geographical areas or industry sectors, so that their collective ability to meet contractual 
obligations is uniformly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. The Bank uses 
a number of controls and measures to minimise undue concentration of exposures. These include 
counterparty limits, approvals and review controls.  

 
Within its daily operations the Bank transacts with banks and other financial institutions. The Bank 
primarily places short-term funds with pre-approved banks and financial institutions subject to limits 
in place and subject to the respective  credit rating being within controlled parameters. 
Actual exposures are monitored against these limits on a daily basis and in real time. The credit 
status of the pre-authorised banks is also monitored on an ongoing basis. 
 
Credit risk also arises from amo
unsecured, interest free and have no fixed date or repayment.  The Bank takes cognisance of the 
related party relationship and the credit arrangements with group undertakings and management 
does not expect any losses from non-performance or default which has not been provided for.    
 
Funds receivable from merchants represent receivables in respect of prefunded amounts to 
merchants. These represent instances, where through special arrangements the Bank agrees to 
transfer the money before receiving it from the card schemes. In the event that the amounts are not 
received from the card schemes, the Bank has the right to claim the money back from the merchants. 
Accordingly, the cred merchants is deemed by the 
directors to be contained. 
 
The Bank also bears the risk of incurring financial losses due to the inability to recover gross 
transaction amounts due from merchants that arise from chargebacks raised by a cardholder (i.e. a 
claim from a cardholder where the payment has been made but the merchant has failed to deliver 

merchants that serv
(before any chargebacks occur or when chargebacks are fully secured by collateral), the Bank 
recognises a net liability position to merchants. However, credit risk arises when the value of 
chargeback transactions exceed the value of collateral held. As at 31 December 2020, receivables 
amounting 102,549 (2019: ) from 281 merchants (2019: 226 merchants) related to 
chargeback transactions in excess of collateral held.  
 
In addition, the Bank extends loans and advances to merchants seeking funding to meet certain 
liquidity requirements.  In this respect, the Bank deems that it is exposed to a degree of concentration 
risk, since these amounts are due from a limited amount of customers, all of which are considered 
large exposures for regulatory reporting purposes, in accordance with the requirements of Part Four 
of the Capital Requirements Regulations (CRR), Large Exposures. 
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2. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
 2.2 Credit risk (continued) 

 
2.2.4 Allowances for expected credit losses 
 
The following disclosure presents the gross carrying/nominal amount of financial instruments 
measured at amortised cost to which the impairment requirements in IFRS 9 are applied and the 
associated allowance for ECL), as well as the fair value of debt instruments measured at FVOCI and 
the associated allowance for ECL. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
The financial assets recorded in each stage have the following characteristics:  

 
 Stage 1: unimpaired and without significant increase in credit risk on which a 12-month 

allowance for ECL is recognised; 
 Stage 2: a significant increase in credit risk has been experienced since initial recognition on 

which a lifetime ECL is recognised;   
 POCI: purchased or originated as credit impaired on which a lifetime ECL is recognised.  
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2. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
 2.2 Credit risk (continued) 

 
2.2.4 Allowances for expected credit losses (continued) 
 

 

At the end of the reporting period, the Bank has no past due or impaired financial assets within these 
asset categories, except for merchants whose chargeback transactions exceed the value of collateral 
held by the Bank, all of which can be classified immediately as credit-impaired as the amount will 

2020, receivables amounting to 
 (2019: 345,373) from 281 merchants (2019: 226 merchants) related to chargeback 

transactions in excess of collateral held.  
 

Further to the above Expected Credit Loss allowance, the Bank provides for any potential future 
losses from chargebacks beyond receivables recognised on-balance sheet that falls under the scope 

ions, Contingent Liabilities  
 
The following tables provide a reconciliation by stage, of the gross 
carrying/nominal amounts or fair values and the respective loss allowances, for financial instruments 
subject to the impairment requirements in terms of IFRS 9.  
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2. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
 2.2 Credit risk (continued) 

 
2.2.4 Allowances for expected credit losses (continued) 
 
 

 
 

s comprise predominantly of movements resulting from 
changes in volume movements (i.e. exposure at default) in those financial assets subject to IFRS 9 
ECL requirements.   
 

Transfers from Stage  represent the impact of stage transfers upon the 
gross carrying/nominal amount and associated allowance for ECL of the financial instruments, 
including those that were originated during the year.  There is no re-measurement of ECL resulting 
from the stage transfer due to the short-term nature of the exposure.  During the preceding financial 
year, the Bank did not experience any transfer of financial assets between stages. As a result, there 
is no re-measurement of ECL arising from transfer of stages. 
 
In the context of the nature of the exposure of the financial assets and the insignificance of 
the resultant ECLs, movements in ECL resulting from changes in risk parameters, such as changes 
in PDs and LGDs, are not significant and are accordingly not disclosed separately.  They are 
included in the table above  
 
In addition, during the year there were no instances where contractual terms of loan were modified, 
due for example .  As a result, as at 31 December 2020 the Bank 
had no renegotiated or forborne loans and advances to customers. 
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2. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

2.3 Market risk 
 
The Bank takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows 
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from 
open positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and 
specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as 
interest rates, credit spreads and foreign exchange rates. In the normal course of business, the 

arket risk arises principally from its exposure to different currencies, primarily resulting from 
its acquiring business. Following the receipt of preference shares in Visa Inc. in exchange for the 

risk. 
 
(a) Interest rate risk 
 

the Central Bank of Malta amounting to 64,798,790 (2019: 
483), balances with other banks and financial institutions repayable on call and at short 

25,951,051 (2019: ), loans and advances to customers of 
8,477,219 (2019: ), funds advanced under collateral arrangements amounting to 

9,139,601 (2019: ), and debt instruments amounting to 20,808,840 (2019: 
-bearing financial assets.  exposure to interest rate 

risk arising from its financial assets is not deemed to be significant given that the majority of these 
assets are either re-priced to current market rates frequently or are short-term in nature.   
 
Meanwhile, t are contracted on the basis of fixed interest 
rates, and thus are not subject to cashflow interest rate risk, and since they are measured at 
amortised cost, they also do not expose the Bank to fair value interest rate risk.  
 
In the context of t exposure to interest rate risk is deemed 
by the directors to be insignificant.  Accordingly, a sensitivity analysis disclosing how profit or loss 
and equity would have been affected by changes in interest rates that were reasonably possible at 
the end of the reporting period is not deemed necessary.  

 
(b) Currency risk  

 
The Bank manages its currency risk on an ongoing basis by ensuring that foreign currency liabilities 
are utilised to fund assets denominated in the same foreign currency thereby matching asset and 
liability positions as much as is practicable.  
 
When it is not possible to match the asset and liability currency positions, the Bank hedges its open 
foreign exchange exposures by entering into spot or forward foreign exchange contracts with terms 
which match those of the hedged items. 
 
Specifically, for its USD exposures, the Bank enters into one-month foreign exchange forward 
contracts with  Credorax Inc. and uses spot foreign exchange trades to manage its exposure in GBP.  
The notional amounts of the open derivative contracts as well as the values of any unsettled spot 
transactions at the end of the reporting period are included within the tables below, which disclose 
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2.       Financial risk management (continued) 

 
2.3 Market risk (continued)  

 
(b) Currency risk (continued) 
 

1 
December 2020 and 2019. Included in the table are the  financial instruments at carrying 
amounts, categorised by currency.  
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2.       Financial risk management (continued) 

 
2.3 Market risk (continued)  

 
(b) Currency risk (continued) 

 
 

 
 
 
Under the scenario that the euro appreciates against the USD from 1.2271 to 1.4271 (2019: from 
1.1234 to 1.3234) and against the GBP from 0.8990 to 1.000 (2019: 0.8521 to 1.000) the impact 
recognised in profit or loss would amount to a pre-tax gain 154,001 (2019: 107,293). If on the 
other hand, the euro depreciates against the USD to 1.0000 (2019: 1.0000) and against the GBP to 
0.7990 (2019: 0.7521) the impact recognised in profit or loss would amount to a loss before tax of 

274,782 (2019: 71,232). 
 
(c) Equity price risk 
 
The Bank is exposed to market price risk arising from the uncertainty about the future market prices 
of the investment held by the Bank in the preference shares of Visa Inc. that are classified in the 
statement of financial position as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.  The preference 
shares are convertible into ordinary shares of Visa Inc., they have no maturity and represent a 

 
 
In view of the absence of quoted market prices for such instruments, the fair value of the preference 
shares has been determined on the basis of an internal valuation model, which is dependent on a 

.  
In this respect, a sensitivity analysis disclosing the potential impact of changes to the assumptions 

ation model is provided within Note 2.6 Fair values of financial assets and 
liabilities. 
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2. Financial risk management (continued) 

 
2.4 Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn.  
 
The Bank is exposed to liquidity risk in relation to meeting future obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities, which comprise principally amounts owed to customers, settlement processing 
obligations and other liabilities (refer to Notes 19, 20 and 23). 
obligations are generally repayable within one month from the end of the reporting period, other than 

which are generally repayable within 180 days from the end of the reporting period.   
 
The Bank manages this risk by monitoring future cash flows together with changes in available 
liquidity on a regular basis. Except for prefunded merchants, Credorax only settles its liabilities in 
respect of settlement processing obligations after the cash is collected from the card schemes. The 
Bank manages in a very active manner the relationship between the funds held with other institutions 
(an amount of which are segregate and deemed to be attributable to merchants) and its settlement 
processing obligations such that funds held with other institutions immediately available for use are 

settlement processing obligations.  Senior management is updated 
on a regular basis on the cash flow position of the Bank.  
 
Through the increase in deposit taking activities, the Bank can be exposed to an increase in liquidity 
risk due to a possible significant deposit flight. However, the Bank considers this risk to be partially 
mitigated in a natural manner given that the majority of the amounts owed to customers pertain to 
term deposits with ca. 60% (2019: 30%) maturing in over one year from the end of the reporting 
period.  

 
As part of its liquidity risk management framework, management monitors the 

  
 
Due to the nature of the business and the composition of the balance sheet, the Bank assesses its 
liquidity risk currently to be very limited.  
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2. Financial risk management (continued) 

 
2.4 Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
The following tables analyse financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period by 
remaining period to maturity. 
 

 
 
Assets which are not immediately accessible and readily available as at 31 December 2020 consist 
of 331,374 the Bank held with the Central Bank of Malta pledged in favour of the Depositor 
Compensation Scheme, together with  Minimum Reserve 
Requirement.   Similarly, as at 31 December 2020 2,995,056 
are also not readily available for sale, since they are illiquid. Additionally, funds advanced under 

9,139,601 are considered to be encumbered. 
 

Additionally, the contractual undiscounted cash outflows  
analysed by remaining contractual maturities at reporting date is presented in the following table. 
The balances in the below table do not agree with the carrying amount as the table incorporates all 
cash flows, on an undiscounted basis, related to principal as well as those associated with all future 
interest payments.  
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2. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

2.4 Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

 
 
Assets which are not immediately accessible and readily available as at 31 December 2019 consist 
of term placements with other banks representing amounts pledged against a letter of credit issued 
in favour of card schemes that serve as collateral against the credit risk of the Bank. In addition, the 

299,184 with the Central Bank of Malta pledged in favour of the Depositor 
Compensation Scheme. 
 
Similarly, as at 31 December 2019, financial investments amounting to 5,255,893 are also not 
readily available for sale, since they are illiquid. Additionally, funds advanced under collateral 
arrangements am 13,847,694 are considered to be encumbered. 
 
As at 31 December 2019, t

 

to be unnecessary. 
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2. Financial risk management (continued) 

 
 2.5 Capital risk management 

 

statement of financial position, are: 
 

 to comply with the capital requirements set by the Malta Financial Services Authority 
(MFSA); 

 continue to 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and 

 to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business. 
 
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored on a regular basis 
management, employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee 
and the European Union Directives and Regulations, as implemented by the MFSA for supervisory 
purposes.  
 
The Bank is required to maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets ( Capital 
requirements ratio ) above a prescribed minimum level of 12% and a CET1 capital ratio of 10%, in 
line with the Bank's licence conditions.  The Bank has processes to ensure that the minimum 
regulatory requirements in relation to own funds are met at all times. 

 
The minimum capital requirements are calculated for credit, market and operational risks. During the 
year, the Bank utilised the Standardised Approach for credit risk, the Basic Indicator Approach for 
operational risk and the Basic Method for foreign exchange risk in order to calculate the Pillar 1 
minimum capital requirements. For credit risk, under the standardised approach, risk weights are 
determined according to credit ratings provided by internationally recognised credit agencies such 
as Fitch or their equivalents and by using the applicable regulatory risk weights for unrated 
exposures. The Basic Indicator Approach requires that the Bank allocates capital for operational risk 
by taking 15% of the average gross income, while the Basic Method requires the Bank to allocate 
8% of its overall net foreign exchange position to calculate the capital requirement for foreign 
exchange risk. 
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2. Financial risk management (continued) 

 
 2.5 Capital risk management (continued) 

 
 

applicable requirements.   
 

 
 

 
2.6 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 
 
IFRS 13 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation 
techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from 
independent sources; unobs  
 
Fair values are consequently determined according to the following hierarchy: 
 Level 1  quoted market price: financial instruments with quoted prices for identical instruments in 

active markets. 
 Level 2  valuation technique using observable inputs: financial instruments with quoted prices for 

similar instruments in active markets or quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in inactive 
markets and financial instruments valued using models where all significant inputs are observable. 
 Level 3  valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs: financial instruments valued 

using models where one or more significant inputs are unobservable. 
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2. Financial risk management (continued) 

 
 2.6 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 
Financial instruments measured at fair value  
 
The best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an actively traded market. The fair values of 
financial instruments that are quoted in active markets are based on bid prices for assets held and 
offer prices for liabilities issued. Where a financial instrument has a quoted price in an active market, 
the fair value of the total holding of the financial instrument is calculated as the product of the number 
of units and quoted price. 
 
The judgement as to whether a market is active may include, but is not restricted to, the consideration 
of factors such as the magnitude and frequency of trading activity, the availability of prices and the 
size of bid/offer spreads. The bid/offer spread represents the difference in prices at which a market 
participant would be willing to buy compared with the price at which they would be willing to sell. 
 
In the event that the market for a financial instrument is not active, a valuation technique is used. 
Valuation techniques may incorporate assumptions about factors that other market participants 
would use in their valuations, including: 
 
 the likelihood and expected timing of future cash flows on the instrument. Judgement may be 

required to assess 
contractual terms. Future cash flows may be sensitive to changes in market rates; 

 selecting an appropriate discount rate for the instrument. Judgement is required to assess what 
a market participant would regard as the appropriate spread of the rate for an instrument over 
the appropriate risk-free rate; 

 judgement to determine what model to use to calculate fair value in areas where the choice of 
valuation model is particularly subjective, for example, when valuing complex derivative 
products. 

 
The financial assets categorised within Level 1 comprise  in Malta Government 
Stock which are listed on the Malta Stock Exchange.  The fair value of the Malta Government Stock 
is determined on the basis of quoted bid price at the close of trading on the year end date, which 

  The market in respect of Malta Government Stocks is regarded as active 
since quoted prices are readily and regularly available and prices represent actual and regularly 

 length basis. 
 

derivative instruments are categorised as level 2, since they are determined utilising 
valuation techniques, involving primarily the use of discounted cash flow techniques.  The fair values 
referred to are determined by reference to market prices or rates (forward foreign exchange rates) 
quoted at the end of the reporting period. The valuation techniques used are supported by observable 
market prices or rates since these variables include only data from observable markets.  Since the 
open derivatives at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were entered into on 31 December, the fair value 
of such derivatives was nil.  
 
The B financial asset categorised within Level 3 comprise  in Visa Inc. 
preference shares 2,995,056 (2019: ) as at 31 December 2020 and  
are measured at FVPL.  These preference shares are classified as Level 3 as the valuation is 
dependent upon a number of assumptions including the valu
are quoted, a discount rate, a further discount for lack of marketability, and a conversion ratio, which 
as explained in Note 8, 
litigations. As at the reporting date, there were no identical transactions with regularly available 
market prices in respect of such preference shares. 
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2. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

2.6 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued) 
 
Also as explained in Note 8, as a holder of a share of Preferred Stock, during 2020 Credorax received 
a number of shares of Series A Convertible Participating Preferred Stock, that was automatically 
convertible into 42,000 Class A Common Stock, which Credorax sold on 9 October 2020.  
 
The table below provides a reconciliation of the fair value measurements in such level 3 instruments.  
 

 
 
In order to determine the fair value of the Visa Inc. preference shares as at 31 December 2020 and 
2019, the Bank considered a range of potential outcomes, including the likely value of the potential 
level of losses from Visa Europe interchange litigation under different scenarios, based on probability 
weightings. 
 
It is reasonably possible that if Visa Europe interchange litigation progresses within the next financial 
year and more information becomes available about the likely value of the potential losses, changes 
in assumptions determining the fair value could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount 
of the Visa Inc. preference shares. 
 
Changes to unobservable assumptions will change the overall fair value of the preference shares. In 
this respect, if the discount for the lack of marketability was assumed to shift by 500 basis points, it 
would result in the following effects on the fair value of the instruments: 
 

 
 
With respect to the outcome of litigation proceedings, as further notifications, claims and settlements 
evolve, the Bank will re-evaluate the likely litigation cost as part of the fair valuation process. 
 
No transfers of financial instruments between different levels of the fair value hierarchy have occurred 
during the financial years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. 
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2. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

2.6 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued) 
 
Certain financial assets and liabilities are carried at amortised cost. The following table sets out the 
carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities: 
 

 
 

  
The fair values of these financial assets and liabilities are not disclosed given that the carrying 
amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value because these are either re-priced to current 
market rates frequently or are short-term in nature or are otherwise immaterial. 

 
3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other 
factors including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.  
 
In the opinion of the directors, considering the materiality of the impact relating to the fair valuation 

Visa Inc. measured at FVPL and the materiality of the potential impact arising 
from ECLs in respect of loans and advances to customers, the accounting estimates and judgements 
made in the course of preparing these financial statements are not difficult, subjective or complex to 
a degree which would warrant their description as critical in terms of the requirements of IAS 1.  
 
The directors believe that there are no other areas involving a higher degree of judgement that have 
a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment and that may have a significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements; and there are no key assumptions and key sources 

complex judgments.  
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4.  Cash and balances with Central Bank of Malta 
 

 
 
Deposits with the Central Bank of Malta as at 31 December 2020 represent mandatory reserve 

nil), as required in terms of Article 32 of the Central Bank of 
Malta Act, Cap. 204 of the Laws of Malta. These are not available for use in the Bank -to-day 
operations. Included in this balance is an amount of 331,374 (2019: ) pledged in favour of 
the Depositors Compensation Scheme.  
 
The balances with the Central Bank of Malta are held to fulfil any Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) 
requirement.  A negative deposit facility interest rate of 0.50% (2019: 0.50
average reserve holdings in excess of the minimum reserve requirements.  

 
 
5. Funds receivable from merchants  

 

 
 
The funds receivable from merchants as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 represent balances where 
the Bank agrees to transfer the amounts due to the merchants before receipt by the card schemes. 
In the event that the amounts are not received from the card schemes, the Bank has the right to claim 
the funds back from the merchants. 
 

 
6. Loans and advances to banks and financial institutions 
 

 
 
 
Loans and advances to banks with a contractual maturity of three months or less are included in 
cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cash flows.   
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7. Loans and advances to customers 
 

 
 
Loans and advances to customers consist of credit facilities with a fixed maturity dates, and are 
subject to fixed interest rates ranging between at 4.5% and 6.5%. 
 
Any reserves, as well as any rolling reserve, fixed reserve, merchant funds, funds pursuant to a 
funding delay or other retained funds, serve as a security against the loans and advances to 
customers. As at 31 December 2020, the Bank retained 2,719,947 (2019: ) in merchant 
funds in its possession.  
 
During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, there were no instances of non-performing 
exposures. 

 
 
8. Financial investments 
  

 
 
Financial assets measured at FVPL as at 31 December 2020 comprise preference shares of Visa 
Inc., with a face value of 3 million , which were received by the Bank in exchange 
for its membership interest in Visa Europe Limited, as part of a transaction in which Visa Europe 
Limited was acquired by Visa Inc. 
 
The preference shares are convertible into Class A ordinary shares of Visa Inc. and represent a 

  They have been issued to provide Visa Inc. with protection 
against all litigation risk associated with interchange fees linked to the activity of Visa Europe Limited, 
such that if litigation losses occur as a result of interchange fees linked to the activity of Visa Europe 
Limited prior to its acquisition by Visa Inc, these would be borne by the previous members of Visa 
Europe Limited.  
 
In this respect, f
the Class A Common Equivalent Number for the preference shares, which transfers the litigation risk 
described above from Visa Inc. to the holders of the preference shares. As a result, the holders of 
the preference shares, including the Bank, are exposed to litigation risk.  
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8. Financial investments (continued) 

 
On 1 September 2020, Visa Inc. announced the release of approximately $7.3 billion of Convertible 
Participating Preferred Stock. The release effectively resulted in a partial conversion of the Preferred 
Stock into Class A Common Stock (i.e. ordinary shares) of Visa Inc. as well as a downward 

. 
 
For the Bank, the release has resulted in the holding of 42,000 Class A Common Stock, which were 
sold on 9 October 2020 and a 50% downward conversion adjustment from 13.722 to 6.861, such 
that the Bank holds 50% of the preference shares held prior to the release. 
 
As noted previously, the conversion rate adjustment referred to above is dependent upon the 
uncertain outcome of litigation.  Hence, the value of the preference shares depends on the level and 
success of any future litigation, which is not possible to assess with a degree of certainty.  
 
Accordingly, the estimation of these litigation costs has been factored into an internal valuation model 

Thus, the estimation arrived at for the purposes of these financial statements remains the best 
available forecast. Accordingly, the reported amounts are sensitive to the assumptions, estimates 
and model used for the purposes of valuing the preference shares. In this respect, a sensitivity 

liabili  
 
As further notifications, claims and settlements evolve, the Bank will re-evaluate the likely litigation 
cost as part of the fair valuation process. 
 
Debt instruments measured at FVOCI represent an investment in Malta Government Stock.  
Instruments 
lines by the Central Bank of Malta. At 31 December 2020, no balances were outstanding against 
these credit lines.  
 
The debt and other fixed income instruments held at amortised cost as at 31 December 2020, consist 
of a bond issued by a compartment cell within a securitisation vehicle which invests in consumer 
credit loan receivables originated from a third-party bank.  
 
The Bank is the sole investor in the bond issued by the compartment cell, which entitles the Bank to 
the net returns generated by the underlying portfolio of consumer credit loans. More specifically, the 

tfolio 
of loans, net of credit losses, and management and administrative fees relating to the portfolio and 
compartment cell respectively. The bond also entitles the Bank to determine the date at which the 
payment of principal and interest is due, as well as the interest rate at which the distribution is made. 
The lifetime of the instrument is split into 2 periods being a reinvestment period and an amortisation 
period. During the reinvestment period, the Bank has determined a fixed distribution rate, with all 
residual income being reinvested automatically within the compartment cell to acquire new consumer 
credit loans.   
 
Subsequent to the expiry of the reinvestment period, which is subject to the discretion of the Bank, 
the underlying portfolio will be run-off with net returns fully distributed to the Bank in the form of 
principal and interest payments.  
 
In this respect, the Bank assessed and concluded that in the light of IFRS 10 requirements, it has no 
control over the compartment cell and accordingly, does not consolidate it. In addition, the Bank 
concluded that the bond should be accounted for at Amortised Cost on the basis that it is held to 
collect contractual cashflows deriving from operations of the compartment cell, as well as on the 
basis that the cashflows from the bond, which in terms of IFRS 9 para B4.1.17 are dependent on the 
cashflow characteristics of the underlying assets, meet the SPPI criteria.    
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9.  Funds advanced under collateral arrangements 

 

 
 
Funds advanced under collateral arrangements represent amounts pledged in favour of card 
schemes that serve as collateral against the credit risk of the Bank. 

 
 
10.  Property and equipment 
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11. Right-of-use assets 
 

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Bank was party to non-cancellable lease agreements of 
properties in respect of which the future minimum lease payments extend over a number of years, 
including options to renew the lease after the expiry of the original term. From 1 January 2019, leases 
are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased 
asset is available for use by the Bank. 
  
The Bank has also some other leases with contract terms shorter than one year and leases of low-
value items, for which the Bank has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets. 
 
 

 
12. Intangible assets 
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13. Other assets 

 

 
 
Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed date for 
repayment.  
 
Credorax Inc. and all of its subsidiaries are subject to a common assignment agreement in respect 
of the settlement of debts arising from services between entities in the normal course of business.  
The agreement allows for the assignment of debt amongst parties and entitles the assignees to set-
off any assigned debt against receivables from the debtor counterparty in the normal course of 
business.  It is intended to allow group undertakings to settle debts on a net basis and is deemed 
legally enforceable. Accordingly, amounts owed by/to group undertakings are reported in the 
statement of financial position on a net basis. 
 
 

14. Share capital 
  

 
 
15.  Fair value reserve 
 

The fair value reserve reflects the effects of the fair value measurement of financial instruments 
classified as fair value through other comprehensive income, net of deferred taxes. Any gains or 
losses are not recognised in profit or loss until the asset has been sold. 

 
16. Share based compensation reserve 
 

The share based compensation reserve comprises the fair value of services provided by directors 
and selected employees of Credorax Bank Limited in exchange for the grant of share options (see 
Note 17 oss, over the vesting period and 

 
Upon vesting of the share options granted, Credorax Inc. recharges to the Bank the grant-date fair 
value of the share options.  Accordingly, upon vesting, the recharge is recognised by the Bank as a 
liability to the parent. During 2020, vested share options recognised as a liability to the parent 
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16. Share based compensation reserve (continued) 

 
Unsettled balances are recognised in the statement of financial position as payables within amounts 

in Note 13. 
 
17.  Share based employee compensation 
 

During 2012

directors and selected employees of Group companies, including those of Credorax Bank Limited. 
 
No consideration is payable on the grant of an option. Options may generally be exercised to the 
extent that they have vested. The options vest according to the relevant schedule generally within 
four years after the grant date and expire within ten years after the date of grant. The exercise price 
is determined by the Board of Directors of Credorax Inc.  Outstanding options comprise options 
existing as at the end of the reporting period not cancelled or exercised by their respective 
beneficiaries (employees and directors). Options are cancelled when the entity that is granting the 
options cancels the grant of the equity instrument through a decision taken by the Board of 
Directors.  Options are forfeited when the beneficiary leaves the Bank. Options that vested as of the 
termination date may be exercised but only within such period of time ending on the earlier of ninety 
(90) days following the termination date or the expiration date.   
 
The weighted average grant-date fair value of the share options granted to the  officers and 
employees during the year amounted to USD7.56 (2019: USD7.56). The entity applied a binomial 
option pricing model to determine the grant date fair value of share options granted up to 31 
December 2014 and a Black-Scholes pricing model for the grant date fair value of share options 
granted from 2015 onwards.  Model inputs include the share price of Credorax Inc. at grant date, 
exercise price, expected volatility of 87.6% (2019: 65.73%) which is based on historical volatility of 
the share price, dividend yield of nil% (2019: nil%), contractual life of ten years, and a risk free interest 
rate between 0.27% and 0.35% (2019: between 1.59% and 2.49%).  A summary of the share option 
activity for the year ended 31 December is as follows: 
 
  2020                2019 
  Weighted  Weighted 
 Number average Number average 
 of share exercise of share exercise 
 options price options price 

  USD  USD 

Outstanding as at 1 January  703,983 7.21 758,233 6.88 
Granted 6,500 7.56 31,500 7.56 
Forfeited (23,400) 7.45 (85,750) 5.78 

Balance at 31 December 687,083 7.21 703,983 7.21 

 
During the financial year under review, 63,313 (2019: 107,300) options at a weighted exercise price 
of USD8.10 (2019: USD6.44) had vested. As at 31 December 2020, 603,895 (2019: 558,858) share 
options were exercisable at a weighted average price of USD7.14 (2019: USD7.05).  No options 
were exercised during the financial year ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.  
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17.  Share based employee compensation (continued) 
 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding as at 31 December 2020 and 
2019, analysed by exercise price were as follows: 
 
 2020 2019 
  Options  Weighted  Options  Weighted 
  granted average  granted Average 
  remaining  remaining 
  contractual  contractual 
  life  Life 
Option price     
USD2.60   95,866  1.01  95,866  2.01 
USD3.80   74,250  2.01  79,250  2.97 
USD5.00   21,467  0.25  21,467  1.25 
USD6.40   47,000  2.36  50,900  3.35 
USD7.56   217,000  7.53  219,000  8.36 
USD9.00   89,500  3.23  89,500  4.23 
USD11.01   142,000  4.95  148,000  5.95 

 
 
The total expense recognised in the financial statements throughout the period in relation to 

51,142 (2019 115,863) and is included within 
30).   

 
 
18. Derivative financial instruments  
 

The Bank enters into derivatives primarily to manage its foreign exchange risk. The derivative 
financial instrument at 31 December 2020 related to the forward purchase of USD 32 million (2019: 
USD 27 million) against the euro at contractual rate of 1.1228 (2019: 1.1209). The foreign exchange 
forward contract matures within one month (2019: one month) from the end of the reporting period. 
Since the Bank entered into the derivative on 31 December 2020, the fair value of such a derivative 
approximates to nil (2019: nil). 

 
 
19. Amounts owed to customers 

 

 
 
Amounts owed to customers are classified as liabilities at amortised cost.  
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20.  Settlement processing obligations 
 

 
 
Amounts owed to merchants relate to funds already received from card schemes in the process of 
settlement to merchants.  

 
21. Deferred taxation 
 

Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using a 
principal tax rate of 5% (2019: 5%). The change was 
form part of a fiscal unit under the Consolidated Group (Income Tax) Rules as described in Note 
1.13. 

 
The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows: 
 

 
 
Whereas tax losses and notional deductions have no expiry date and may be carried forward 
indefinitely, capital allowances expire upon disposal of the related asset.  
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21. Deferred taxation (continued) 
 

With effect from 2019, the Bank forms part of a Fiscal Unit for Maltese income tax purposes in terms 

the parent company and another wholly owned Malta resident subsidiary of Credorax Inc.  These 
Rules allow a group of companies to elect to be treated as one single taxpayer and to compute their 
chargeable income or losses on a consolidated basis. 

 
In terms of the agreement, Credorax Inc., the parent company, is 

Tax Act relative to entities forming part of the fiscal unit.  
 

On adoption of the Consolidated Group tax rules, the Maltese tax liabilities otherwise due on the 
taxable profits of the Bank can be set off against the 6/7ths tax refund otherwise due thereon to 
Credorax Inc, resulting in the principal taxpayer to immediately account for the tax due at the 5% 
effective tax rate. This saves the Consolidated Group the time lapse previously required between the 
payment of the standard corporate income tax rate of 35% at the level of the Bank, and the 
subsequent receipt of a shareholder refund at the level of Credorax Inc., following a distribution of 
dividends upon which such tax would have been charged and paid.  

 
As part of this process, the Bank entered into a tax sharing and funding agreement with Credorax 
Inc. and the other entity that forms part of the Fiscal Unit, that provides for the allocation of income 
taxes to the fiscal unit members.   

 
The allocation of tax within the Fiscal Unit is calculated as if each member entity was an individual 
entity for tax purposes, with taxes allocated by reference to the chargeable income/losses of each 

Furthermore, while each entity within the Fiscal Unit is jointly and severally liable for the payment of 
 

 
In addition, under the terms of this agreement, the parent, as principal taxpayer, assumes the 
obligation to remit taxes to the Maltese Inland Revenue, and the member entities compensate 
Credorax Inc. for their share of tax payable assumed by the parent or conversely be compensated 
for their share of any tax receivable. 

 
e is independent of the 

Accordingly, Credorax Inc., as principal taxpayer, assumes the credit risk of the other member 
entities defaulting on settlement. 

 
As a result, the Bank recognises current tax liabilities, deferred tax assets arising from unused tax 
losses and tax credits arising from this allocation process as a liability towards or asset receivable 
from the parent. 

 
In line with the terms of the agreement, the Bank has thus derecognised its deferred tax assets 
arising from unutilised losses and unabsorbed capital allowances 235,197 and 
recognised a receivable of the same amount from Credorax Inc. This amount was subsequently 
added to the receivables due by Credorax Inc. in accordance with the terms of the common 
assignment agreement entered into between Credorax Inc. and all of its subsidiaries as described in 
Note 13.   
 
Since the tax consolidation regime allows for a full integration of the tax position of its members, each 
entity within the Fiscal Unit including the Bank, has applied an equivalent effective tax rate of 5% for 
the computation of current and deferred tax.  As a result, during 2019, the Bank has released deferred 
tax l 918 to profit or loss, to reflect the reduction in the effective tax rate 
from 35% to 5%. 
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22. Lease liabilities  
 
 Following the adoption of IFRS 16, the Bank has presented lease liabilities separately from other 

liabilities in the statement of financial position. The lease liabilities were initially measured at the 
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate as 
at 1 January 2019.  

  
 Lease liabilities are analysed by maturity as follows: 
 
 

 
  
 
23. Other liabilities  
  
 

 
 
24.  Interest and similar income 
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25.  Interest expense 
 

 
 
26.  Fee and commission income 
 
 

 
 
 
27.  Fee and commission expense 
 
 

 
   
   
28.  Net trading income 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 CREDORAX BANK LIMITED 
Annual Report and Financial Statements  31 December 2020 

 

62 
 

 
29.  Net income from financial instruments measured at FVPL 
  

 
  
 
30.  Employee compensation and benefits 
 

 

 
 
  
 Average number of persons employed by the Bank during the year: 
 

 

 
 

 
31.    General and administration expenses  
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31.    General and administration expenses (continued) 

 
The total cash payments for leases, including short-term and low-value leases, in 2020 243,005 
(2019: 256,330).  The depreciation expense on Right of Use assets and the interest expense 
attributable to lease liabilities are disclosed within Notes 11 and 23 respectively. 

 
Fees charged by the auditors for services rendered during the financial year relate to the following:  

  

 
 
 
32.     Changes in expected credit losses and other impairment allowances 
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33.      Tax expense 

  

 
 
 
The tax recognised in profit or loss differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the 
basic tax rate as follows: 
 

 
 
34.     Cash and cash equivalents 
 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with 

management. 
 

 
 
 
35.     Significant non-cash transactions 

 
During 2020, 41,491,485 (2019: ) to finance the 
operations of various 621,502 (2019: ) were repaid. 

 
The obligations referred to above were offset against the receivables due by the ultimate parent, 
Credorax Inc. in accordance with the terms of the common assignment agreement entered into 
between Credorax Inc. and all of its subsidiaries (refer to Note 13). 
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35.     Significant non-cash transactions (continued) 
 

Further to the above, during 2020, the Bank capitalised software from related entities amounting to 
1,261,15 2,132,811).  These were also offset against the advance by the Bank referred to 

above.  
 
Also, described in Note 21, a deferred tax balance of the 
Bank 235,197 has been assumed by the parent company, Credorax Inc. under the 
tax funding agreement. This balance was added to the receivables due by the ultimate parent, 
Credorax Inc. in accordance with the terms of the common assignment agreement referred to above. 
 
As disclosed in Note 17, during 2020, the parent contributed amounts of 51,142 
(2019: ) in respect of share options granted to employees of the Bank. 
 

36.     Capital commitments 
 

Commitments relating to the acquisition of new software licenses and operating expenditure are as 
follows: 

  

 
 

37. Contingencies  
 

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Bank had no legal proceeding outstanding against it arising 
in its normal course of business.  
 

 
38.     Dividend distribution 
 

Dividend distribution to the Bank Bank
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Bank   
 
The following dividends were recognised as distributions during the year ended 31 December. 

  
 

 
  

The directors propose the following dividends. 
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39. Related party transactions 
 

Related parties of the Bank include the ultimate parent, all entities controlled by the ultimate parent 

personnel and entities which are controlled or jointly controlled by key management personnel or 
their close family members. 
 
Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of Credorax Bank Limited, being the Directors. 
 
The following main transactions were carried out with related parties: 
 

 
 
During 2020 the Bank also advanced a total of 41,491,485 (2019: 6) to finance the 
operations of the group entities, of which 621,502 (2019: ) were repaid.  
 
Balances with related parties as at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in Note 13 to the 
financial statements. 

 
 
40. Statutory information 
 

Credorax Bank Limited is a limited liability company and is incorporated in Malta.  
 
The immediate and ultimate parent company of Credorax Bank Limited is Credorax Inc., a company 
registered in the British Virgin Islands, with its registered address at Commerce House, Wickhams 
Cay 1, Po Box 3140, Road Town, Tortola. 
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1. Risk management  
 
1.1 Overview of risk disclosures 
 

in accordance with the Pillar 3 quantitative and qualitative disclosure requirements as governed by 
nd Audited Financial Statements of Credit 

Institutions authorised under the Banking Act, 1994, issued by the Malta Financial Services Authority 

(Capital Requirements Directive) and EU Regulation No. 575/2013 (Capital Requirements 
Regulation) of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 and are presented on a 
solo basis at the level of the Bank. These ARDs are published on an annual basis as part of the 

structure and adequacy as well as its risk management policies and practices.  
 
In line with the banking regulatory requirements, these ARDs are not subject to an external audit, 
except to the extent that any disclosures are equivalent to those made in the Financial Statements 
which are prepared in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting 

hrough internal verification procedures, the Bank ensures 
that these disclosures are presented fairly.  

 
1.2 Risk management framework 
 

payment processing services to merchants within the EU and two other EEC States. Moreover, 
Credorax Bank Limited operates as a credit institution under the Banking Act, Cap 371 of the Laws 
of Malta, whereby it is licensed to accept deposits and also provide lending facilities.   
 
The Bank is committed to creating lasting value for shareholders by focusing on expanding its growing 
customer base, and by employing specialised staff that work with merchants to find solutions for 
electronic payment transactions.  In keeping with thi

profit after tax expressed as a percentage of average total assets, for the reporting period ended 31 
December 2020 is 0.51% (2019: 12.19%). The 
expected to improve and will continue to improve in the future.  
 

due diligence measures.  The Bank is especially conscious of the risks involved in the acquiring and 
banking business, not only as a result of its exposure to the arising credit risk involved but also to the 
operational risk intrinsic within the business.  Therefore, it strives to minimise its exposure to 
operational risk by taking on merchants only when it knows how to manage the resulting risk. This 
culture is fostered across the entire Bank.   
 
The Bank takes on risk with the aim of generating profits and therefore considers risk management 
a core competency that helps produce higher returns for its various stakeholders.  The Bank has 
tailored its risk management objectives and policies to manage the specific risks arising from payment 
acquiring while considering international guidelines, such as the Basel III Accord, corresponding 
Directives and Regulations of the European Union, including technical standards, as well as 
contemporary international banking practices.  In addition, the Bank is also in compliance with the 
requirements of the PMLFTR, PSD2, PCI Data Security Standards and the PCI Payment Application 

framework adopted by the Bank to be adequate a
stakeholders that the risk management systems adopted by the Bank are appropriate in relation to 
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1. Risk management (continued) 
 
1.2 Risk management framework (continued) 
 

The main categories of risk to which the Bank is exposed to are: 
 

- Credit risk: Credit risk stems from the loss of equity and profit as a result of the possible non-
prompt repayment or non-
counterparties. This relates to legitimate merchant transactions that generate chargebacks, 
which the merchant is unable to fund in the normal course of business.  In these circumstances, 
Credorax Bank Limited is obliged to honour the chargebacks in favour of the cardholders without 
being able to recover the corresponding funds from the merchants, which may result in the 
incurrence of financial losses.  

 

- Market risk: Risk of losses arising from unfavourable changes in the level and volatility of interest 
rates, fo
foreign exchange exposure. 

 

- Liquidity risk: The risk that the Bank is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with 
its financial liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn.  

 

- Operational risk: Risk of damage resulting from the lack of skilful management or good 
governance within the Bank and the inadequacy of proper control, which might involve internal 
operations, personnel, system or external occurrences that in turn affect the income and capital 
funds of financial institutions. The Bank has adopted an operational risk management framework 
and procedures, which provide for the identification, assessment, management, monitoring and 

 
 
The Bank aims to manage these risks by applying methods that meet best practice and considers it 
important to have a clear distribution of responsibilities for risk management across the Bank. In this 
respect, the Bank adopts the three lines of defence model in risk management.   
 

management, represented mainly through the Executive Committee members and the functions 

not form part of the Board of Directors) is composed of the VP Human Resources; the Portfolio 
Manager; the Chief Operations Officer; the Chief Underwriting Officer; the VP Finance and 
Regulatory Reporting and the VP Finance Operations. The Executive Committee is mainly 
responsible for the overall day-to-day management of the Bank, in accordance with such policies 
and directions as the Board may determine from time to time.    
 
The Underwriting Committee deals with the risks involved when on-boarding prospective merchants 

is adhering to its several merchant acquiring policies, with particular attention to the Credit Risk policy 
at all times. The Credit risk policy addresses the underwriting process where the Bank assesses the 

whilst considering the potential risk of fraud, high chargeback rates and business failure. The 
underwriting process, governed also by the Customer Acceptance policy and the Acceptable Industry 
policy, provides an opportunity to reject a merchant that is determined to have an unacceptable 
history of chargeback volumes, has a weak financial position, is not operating a valid business model 
or falls under the prohibited list of merchants.  Furthermore, where a merchant poses certain risks, 
the said merchant is escalated to the Underwriting Committee where it is subjected to a thorough 
analysis from a legal, operational, fraud and risk perspective. The Underwriting Committee is 
composed of the Chief Underwriting Officer, the VP of Risk Operations, the VP Legal Regulatory 
Affairs, the Head of Compliance & MLRO and the Managing Director. The Chief Underwriting Officer 
ensures that underwriting procedures and checks are in line with regulatory requirements and the 
Bank's risk appetite, while at the same time is responsible for the financial and credit risk exposure 
of the B    
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1. Risk management (continued) 
 
1.2 Risk management framework (continued) 
 

its main responsibilities comprise of the implementation and maintenance of the Credit Risk 
dity management and will 

also take certain credit portfolio management responsibilities, including the review and approval or 
rejection raised by management for the granting of new credit facilities. The ALCO is composed of 
the Managing Director, the VP Finance & Regulatory Reporting, VP of Treasury and Chief 
Underwriting Officer. 
 
The second line is represented by the Enterprise Risk Manager and the Head of Compliance and 
MLRO, who reports to the Risk Oversight Committee. The Risk Oversight Committee is responsible 

 that all risk controls are operating effectively. 
The 
convened four times during the period under review. 
 

 Further to the identification and 

established risk appetite triggers, and to assess how these can be mitigated and escalated where 
appropriate.  
 
Additionally, the Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the establishment and oversight of 

t framework is to support the 
Bank in achieving its goals and objectives and ensure that the risks are commensurate with the 
rewards. 
 
The Board establishes the risk appetite of the Bank which is the maximum risk that the Bank is willing 
to assume to meet business targets. The risk appetite is set in a process based on a thorough 
analysis of its current risk profile. The Bank identifies a number of key risk components and for each, 

risk-taking and day-to-day decisions. 
 

The Internal Auditor form the third line of defence who reports to the Audit Committee. The Audit 

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the qualifications, performance and 
independence of the external auditor, the performance of the I
internal controls, and any related party transactions. In executing its responsibilities, the Audit 
Committee receives, and reviews regularly reports made by the internal and the external auditors, 
and monitors any identified control issues through to a satisfactory conclusion.  
 

controls in individual areas of operation, and performs ad-hoc reviews of risk management controls 
and procedures.  The function reports its findings to the Audit Committee. 
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2. Capital risk management  
 
2.1 Own funds 
 

assessing capital adequacy from a regulatory perspective. The total capital ratio is a measure of the 
long-term financial strength of a bank, usually expressed as a ratio of its own funds or capital to the 

 
 

The Bank has processes to ensure that the minimum regulatory requirements in relation to own funds 
are met at all times, through the assessment of its capital resources and requirements. During the 
financial period ended 31 December 2020, the Bank has complied with all the externally imposed 
capital requirements to which it was subject. 

  
 nical 

the capital base is equivalent to which includes ordinary share 
capital, retained earnings and other regulatory adjustments relating to items that are included in 
equity but treated differently for capital adequacy purposes. The Bank does not maintain a Reserve 
for General B -

 
 
 Regulatory transitional arrangements (including paragraph 4 of the CRR article 473a) with regards 

to IFRS 9: Financial instruments were introduced by the European Parliament and the Council on 27 
December 2017. These permit banks to add back to their own funds a proportion of the impact of 
IFRS 9 during the first five years of implementation. The proportion that banks may add back starts 
at 95% in 2018 and reduces to 25% by 2022. Given the immaterial impact of the IFRS9 provision for 
the year ended 31 December 2020, the Bank has opted not to apply these regulatory transitional 
arrangements. 
 
(a) Share capital 

 
 20 is analysed as follows: 
 

 2020 2019 
   
   

Authorised   
 200,000,000 200,000,000 

   
Issued and fully paid up   

 23,000,000 23,000,000 

 
(b) Retained earnings 

 
The retained earnings represent earnings not paid out as dividends. Retained earnings form part of 

During 
the year, the Bank did not declare any dividend (2019  
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2. Capital risk management (continued) 
 
2.1 Own funds (continued) 
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2. Capital risk management (continued) 
 
2.2  Credit risk 
 
2.2.1 Introduction to credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur losses as a result of a counterparty failing to fulfil its 

in processing and settlement of payment transactions. 
 

Credit risk constitutes the Ban  view of its acquiring activities and therefore the Bank 
is fully aware of the connotations of such risk and places great importance on its effective 
management. The portfolio of merchants and their performance is monitored on an ongoing basis 
and the relevant management bodies, including the Board of Directors and the Risk Oversight 
Committee, are kept informed on an ongoing basis of developments of irregular merchant trends, 
high chargebacks and other relevant information. 

 
2.2.2 Credit risk management 
 

All new merchants are reviewed by the risk function to ensure that the credit risk they represent is 
within the Risk Appetite agreed by the Board of Directors. The on-boarding of merchants is based on 

ive mitigant to credit risk arising from 

business age, partner reliability, as well as the industry sector in which the merchant operates are 
considered. 
 
As part of the risk assessment, Credit Risk Analysts, approve, reject or amend the processing terms, 
namely fixed and rolling reserve, funding delay, frequency of settlement, and any other merchant 
processing terms suggested by the sales team on behalf of the partner or merchant. Any matters not 
considered to fall within the parameters of normal business practices are escalated to the VP of Risk 
Operations who will in turn decide whether further escalation is required to the Chief Underwriting 
Officer or the Underwriting Committee. 
 
Subsequent to on-boarding, in order to manage its credit risk exposures arising from its payment 
processing operations, the Bank compiles and updates due diligence reports in respect of its 
merchants and IPSPs, and establishes appropriate transaction volumes and value limits. The Bank 

s of 
authority and has segregation of duties in place so as to maintain impartiality and independence 
during the underwriting and on-boarding process and to control ongoing merchant compliance. 
 
If in any given month the chargeback ratio or NEE is in excess of these thresholds, a report explaining 
the cause of the breach and the action plan to lower the exposure to an acceptable level is provided 
by the Chief Underwriting Officer to the Risk Oversight Committee.  
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2. Capital risk management (continued) 
 

2.2 Credit risk (continued) 
 
2.2.2 Credit risk management (continued) 
 

is 
as follows: 

 
 

The exposures set out in the preceding table are based on the sum of on-balance sheet exposures 
and off-balance sheet exposures, adjusted for the credit conversion factors stipulated within Article 
166(10) of the CRR. Due to the specificities of the risks inherent within the payment acquiring 

, which 
 

 
Credit risk mitigation practices in respect to loans and advances to customers include reserves, 
merchant funds, funds pursuant to a funding delay or other retained funds which serve as a security 
against such exposures. As at 31 December 2020, the Bank retained (2019: ) 
in merchant funds in its possession.  
 
 
Credit risk exposures analysed by residual maturity 

 

Total
Within three 

months

Within one 
year but 

over three 
months

More than 
one year

More than 
three years

No maturity

As at 31 December 
2020

Central banks    64,798,955    64,222,800                 -                   -                   -                576,155 
Central Government    10,723,852                 -                   -                   -   10,723,852                        -   
Institutions    52,144,010    33,004,409                 -                   -                   -            19,139,601 
Corporates    17,467,463      4,815,196    10,550,817      2,101,450                 -                         -   
Retail    10,165,964                 -                   -                   -      10,165,964                       -   
Equity      2,995,056                 -                   -                   -                   -              2,995,056 
Other items      1,267,488                 -                   -                   -                   -              1,267,488 

Total  159,562,788  102,042,405    10,550,817      2,101,450    20,889,816          23,978,300 
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2. Capital risk management (continued) 
 

2.2 Credit risk (continued) 
 
2.2.2 Credit risk management (continued) 

 
 Credit risk exposures analysed by geographical region 

 

is analysed in the following table.  For the purposes of this table, the Bank has allocated exposures 
classes to regions based on the country of domicile of the counterparties. 
 

 
 

 
 

 
2.2.3  

 
potential future losses that 

may arise as a result of chargebacks for which merchants would not be in a position to honour. 
 

determine the exposure that each merchant represents to Credorax Bank Limited, together with a 
formal assessment on its business introducers, also referred to as partners. As highlighted previously, 
the Bank focuses on the compilation, together with ongoing and event-driven updating of due 
diligence analysis taking cognisance of collateral measurement and of effective transaction 
monitoring to ensure that the merchant is not being used as a vehicle for money laundering or terrorist 
financing. 
 

 through the imperfect diversification of its merchant 
portfolio, at an individual merchant level or potentially on an industry or country basis. In this regard, 
the directors are cognisant that significant reliance on specific merchants, particular industries or 
sectors can be detrimental to the Bank, and therefore have in place appropriate concentration limits 
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2. Capital risk management (continued) 
 
2.2 Credit risk (continued) 
 
2.2.3 (continued) 

 
The following table shows 2020 processing volumes analysed by industry: 

 
 
The following table shows the geographical analysis of 2020 processing volumes: 

 
 

Credorax provides a smart acquiring solution to merchants across hundreds of industries; however, 
some of these industries require the fulfilment of certain conditions for successful onboarding. 

etite. This assessment is mostly based 
on the legality of the product, risk from a card scheme perspective, and legal complexities.  
 

rates and delivery timeframe for future services committed to by merchants. When the amount of 
chargebacks exceed the amount of the collateral, i.e. the reserves and funding delay, management 
considers this to be an impairment trigger. At this point, the Bank evaluates whether the exposure 
should be impaired. Impaired merchant exposures are therefore those exposures arising from 
chargebacks in excess of collateral and for which the Bank has determined that it is probable that it 
will be unable to recover. As at 31 December 2020, receiv

of collateral held.  
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2.  Capital risk management (continued) 
 
2.2 Credit risk (continued) 
 
2.2.3 (continued) 
 

Credorax Bank Limited places strong emphasis on the value and quality of the collateral, depending 
on the amount of the exposure, the risk profile of the merchant, and the level of credit risk involved. 
T  

 
9,908,206 (2019: ), while the 

20,502,004 (2019 13,568,279). 
 
2.3 Interest rate risk 

 
64,798,790 (2019: 

), balances with other banks and financial institutions repayable on call and at short 
notice amounting to 25,951,051 (2019: ), loans and advances to customers of 

8,477,219 (2019: 2,039,267), funds advanced under collateral arrangements amounting to 
19,139,601 (2019 13,847,694 20,808,840 (2019 133,796) 

deemed to be significant given that these assets are either re-priced to current market rates frequently 
or are short-term in nature or are otherwise immaterial. 
contracted on the basis of fixed interest rates, and thus are not subject to cashflow interest rate risk. 
Accordingly, a sensitivity analysis disclosing how profit or loss and equity would have been affected 
by changes in interest rates that were reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period is not 
deemed necessary. 
 

2.4 Currency risk 
 

The Bank manages its currency risk on an ongoing basis by ensuring that foreign currency liabilities 
are utilised to fund assets denominated in the same foreign currency thereby matching asset and 
liability positions as much as is practicable. When it is not possible to match the asset and liability 
currency positions, the Bank hedges its open foreign exchange exposures by entering into forward 
foreign exchange contracts with terms which match those of the hedged items.  
 

ments at carrying amounts, categorised 
by currency.  
  
 

 
 
Based on the above positions, the regulatory risk capital charge in respect of currency risk is 

330,859 (2019 303,033). 
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2. Capital risk management (continued) 
 
2.5    Operational risk 
 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated 

than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements 

responsible for the development and implementation of policies and procedures to ensure that 
operational risks are managed effectively.  The Bank mitigates the possibility of impact risk events 

mitigation achieved through back-up information security infrastructures, back-up disaster recovery 
sites and insurance covers over particular business risks.  Such systems enable the Bank to operate 
on an ongoing basis and limit losses in the event of severe business disruption. 

  
 a framework of policies and procedures 

oversight function. Regular reporting of operational risk events to the Board of Directors is carried 
when required. The Bank currently uses the Basic Indicator Approach to assess the operational risk 
capital requirements and accordingly allocates 15% of average gross income for a three-year period 
in accordance with regulatory requirements. The operational risk regulatory capital requirement as at 
December 2020 amounted to 5,615,452 (2019: 4,215,123).   

 
2.6 Capital requirements  
 

Minimum capital requirements are calculated for credit, market and operational risks. The Bank 
utilises the Standardised Approach for credit risk, the Basic Indicator Approach for operational risk 
and the Basic Method for foreign exchange risk in order to calculate the Pillar 1 minimum capital 
requirements. For credit risk, under the Standardised Approach risk weights are determined 
according to credit ratings provided by internationally recognised credit agencies such as 
Fitch Ratings or their equivalents and by using the applicable regulatory risk weights for unrated 
exposures. The capital charge for foreign exchange risk using the Basic Method is calculated at 8% 
of the higher of the sum of all the net short positions and the sum of all the net long positions in each 
foreign currency. The Basic Indicator Approach requires that the Bank allocates capital for 
operational risk by taking 15% of the average gross income. The total capital ratio is calculated in 
accordance with the requirements of the CRR. 
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2.       Capital risk management (continued) 
 

2.6     Capital requirements (continued) 
 

 
 

 
 

As required by the CRR, the minimum level of the Capital Requirements Ratio stands at 8%. The 
Bank fully implemented the CRD IV capital requirements with effect from January 2019. In this 

-
 capital falls below the level of its 

CRD IV combined buffer. 
 

The Bank is required to maintain a capital conservation buffer of 2.5%, made up of CET1 capital, on 
the risk weighted exposures of the Bank as from 1 January 2019. This buffer has been phased in 
over the period from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018, with full transitional application effective 
as from 1 January 2019. 

 
CRD IV contemplates a countercyclical buffer in line with Basel III, in the form of an institution-specific 
countercyclical buffer and the application of increased requirements to address macro-prudential or 
systemic risk.  This is set in the range of 0-2.5% of relevant credit exposure RWAs, whereby the rate 

at apply in the jurisdiction 
where the relevant exposures are located. 
institutions in Malta, and to interbank exposures, the Bank is subject to a very low countercyclical 
buffer requirement of 0.05% as at 31 December 2020 (2019: 0.17%). 
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2.       Capital risk management (continued) 
 
2.6     Capital requirements (continued) 

 
The O-SII buffer is also institution specific and may be set at a maximum of 2% of a systemically 

relevance to the financial system in Malta, it is unlikely that the Bank will be required to maintain an 
O-SII buffer.  
 
In addition to the measures above, CRD IV sets out a 
a whole, or one or more sub-sectors, to be deployed as necessary by each EU member state with a 

and 5%. There are currently no indications that the Bank will need to maintain a systemic risk buffer. 
  

2.7 Exposures to equities 
 

The Bank is exposed to market price risk arising from the uncertainty about the future market prices 
of the investment held by the Bank in the preference shares of Visa Inc. that are classified in the 
statement of financial position as financial assets at FVPL.  The preference shares are convertible 
into ordinary shares of Visa Inc. they have no maturity and represent a residual i
net assets.  Furthermore, in view of the absence of quoted market prices for such instruments, the 
fair value of the preference shares has been determined on the basis of an internal valuation model, 
which is dependent on a number o
which have a quoted price.   
 
The impact of a change in the fair value of such instruments resulting from a change in equity prices, 
is included in these financial statements as part of the sensitivity analyses that have been performed 
on the key assumptions used in the valuation of such instruments, within Note 2.6 
financial assets and liabilities  
 

 
2.8 Use of External Credit Assessment Institutions 
 

The Bank uses an Externa -weighted 
exposure amounts for central banks, multilateral development banks, institutions and corporates for 
which a credit assessment is available. The credit quality of such exposures is determined by 

maps these ratings to the credit quality steps prescribed in the CRR as required by 
Technical Standard on the credit quality steps  
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2.       Capital risk management (continued) 
 

2.8 Use of External Credit Assessment Institutions (continued) 
 
The following table represents the exposure values for which an ECAI is used: 
 

 
 
2.9 Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) 

 

confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on 
es the need to maintain a balance 

between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and the advantages and 
security afforded by a sound capital position.  
 

the regulatory capital 
allocation, as the regulatory requirements do not reflect the differing risk profile of the Bank. In this 
respect, the Bank allocates the majority of its capital against the risks resulting from chargebacks 
which merchants would not be able to fund in the ordinary course of business. 
 
The Bank considers the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) embedded in Pillar 
II as a tool that ensures a proper measurement of material risks and capital and allows better capital 
management and an improvement in risk management. Therefore, it facilitates a better alignment 
between material risks and regulatory capital in order to have better capital deployment and 
improvements in the risk management and mitigation techniques adopted by the Bank.  

 

ensure that the capital level is sufficient to withstand unlikely, but possible, stress scenarios.  
 
The ICAAP as required by the MFSA Banking Rule 12, shall be submitted to the MFSA in April 2021. 

 
3. Asset encumbrance 
 

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank is required by card schemes to pledge an amount of 
funds in their favour to serve as collateral against the credit risk of the Bank.  
encumbered assets as at 31 December 2020 amounted to 19,139,601 (median value during 2020 

16,660,898). 
end of the reporting period, except for 9: 299,174) with the Central Bank of Malta 
which is pledged in favoured of the Depositor Compensation Scheme  (2019: nil) which 
represents the Minimum Reserve requirement.  Furthermore, as at 31 December 2020, the Bank did 
not have any outstanding liabilities associated with encumbered assets. 
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3. Asset encumbrance (continued) 
 
Accordingly, as at 31 December 2020
to support potential future funding and collateral needs, amounted to 50,681,654 (median value 
during 2020 amounted to 53,716,120 26,796,782 (median value 
during 2020 amounted to 32,825,323) were assessed to be readily realisable. 
 

63,376,904 (median value during 2020 amounted to 
64,025,539) have been excluded from the balance of unencumbered assets above.  This balance 

represents the surplus cash, which in the ordinary course of business arises since the incoming 
amounts from the card schemes precede when the funding to merchants falls due. This significantly 

 
 
4. Remuneration policy 

 

employees. Accordingly, the Bank offers remuneration packages, composed of fixed and variable 
pay and selected benefits, aimed at attracting, retaining and motivating people with the requisite 
knowledge and experience. Remuneration packages reflect the extent of decision-making and risk 
management responsibilities assigned to respective individuals.  

Taking into consideration the size of the Bank, the non-complex operations and the straightforward 
remuneration structure, the Board of Directors does not deem necessary the establishment of a 
Remuneration Committee for the Bank, although this will be reviewed on an annual basis.  
Consequently, the Board of Directors performs the functions of the Remuneration Committee for the 

aff whose 

the basis of quantitative and qualitative criteria set out in Commission Delegated Regulation 
604/2014.  

o be represented by members of the Executive Committee, 
which includes all the respective function Heads and the Managing Director, staff who are responsible 
for the internal control functions, including the Head of Compliance & MLRO, Enterprise Risk 
Manager and Internal Auditor, and other identified staff members heading key business units namely 
the VP of Treasury and VP of Risk Operations. 

On the other hand, the remuneration of the Board membersis determined by the Remuneration 
Committee of Credorax Inc. (the parent company).  

 

 generally, 
people) comprising the base salary and fixed pay allowances. Fixed remuneration is established 

influenced by the level of education, the degree of seniority and organisational responsibility, the 
level of expertise and skills required, the constraints and job experience and the relevant 
business sector and region. It may be increased following performance reviews,  
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4.      Remuneration policy (continued) 

 -based variable pay which does 
not however exceed 100% of fixed remuneration. The variable element of their compensation is 
dependent on the achievement of pre-set targets in terms of the processing volumes and 
profitability (which includes any chargebacks and losses) of their merchant portfolio.  Sales 
people introduce prospective merchants and partners to the Bank but have no approval authority 
during the onboarding stage. Once successfully onboarded, the merchants and partners 
introduced by a sales person will be included i
aforementioned will be monitored and rewarded when targets are met and exceeded. In this 
way, variable compensation paid in cash is intended to reward the accomplishment of targets 
and merchant quality, whi  

 where a staff member benefits from variable remuneration, the characteristics of their variable 
remuneration, as well as the process and criteria that will be used to assess the impact of their 
activities on the risk profile of the institution and their variable remuneration should be 

performance is properly documented and transparent to the staff concerned. 
 the fixed and variable remuneration of the MRTs do not exceed a total remuneration of EUR 

500,000 or more, nor is it within the 0.3% of the number of staff who have been awarded the 
highest total remuneration.  

 no performance-related compensation is awarded to directors or selected employees, with the 
exception of the Sales Operations team members which are entitled to cash based variable 
remuneration and share based compensation awarded to senior management and selected 
employees.  

 Additionally, the -executive directors are not eligible to receive performance 
incentives. The variable component of the remuneration is mainly rewarded through a share-

Credorax Inc., whereby share options are granted to directors and selected employees in 
exchange for their services at the discretion of the Board. No consideration is payable on the 
grant of an option and is awarded to employees on the basis of both financial and non-financial 
performance. Financial performance is assessed by reference to key risk adjusted financial 
metrics, while non-financial performance is assessed by reference to factors including 
leadership, team management, team work, creativity, motivation and cooperation. 

 Options may generally be exercised to the extent that they have vested. The options are subject 
to deferral and vest according to the relevant schedule generally within four years after the grant 
date and expire within ten years after the date of grant. The exercise price is determined by the 
Board of Directors of Credorax Inc. based on the fair value of shares at grant date. In this 
manner, variable compensation through share-based compensation does not exceed 100% of 
fixed remuneration and is structured in a manner that incentivises staff to pursue the goals and 
interests of the Bank, enabling them to share in its success while promoting sound risk 
management.  

 d by law. 
 
The Board of Directors considers that the packages offered to senior management ensure that the 
Bank attracts and retains management staff that is capable of fulfilling its duties and obligations. 

ts senior management staff on the basis of indefinite 
contracts of employment after a period of probation, rather than on fixed term contracts.   
 
Accordingly, the applicable notice periods, after probation, are those provided for in the relevant 
legislation. 

 
The table on the following page 
during financial year 2020.  
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4.      Remuneration policy (continued) 

Remuneration  fixed and variable amounts 
 

  

 
1 Outstanding deferred share options awarded during and prior to 2020, which vested during 2020. 
2 Outstanding deferred share options awarded during and prior to 2020, not yet vested as at 31 December 2020. 

 
 

Total Non-  for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 
79,000 (2019 79,000), of which none was variable in both years. Other directors who 

are employed within the Group are not paid any fees for their directorship. 
 
5. Leverage 
 

The leverage ratio is a regulatory and supervisory tool intended to provide a transparent and non-
risk-based measurement of an institution to supplement the risk-based capital requirements.  

 
The leverage ratio is calculated in terms of capital as a proportion of total exposures. Capital is 
defined as Tier 1 capital in line with Article 25 of the CRR, whilst total exposure relates to the total on 
and off-balance sheet exposures less the deductions applied to Tier 1 capital. 

 
During 2016, the European Commission published a Proposal to amend Regulation 575/2013 (CRR), 
which included the introduction of a 3% leverage ratio as a binding Pillar I requirement. Although this 
Proposal is still in draft and further discussions are expected, the Bank abides by the minimum 3% 
Tier 1 leverage ratio, based on fully transitioned Basel III standards.  

 
The following page shows 
stipulated by implementing regulation EU 2016/200. 
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5. Leverage (continued) 

 
The following table provides a reconciliation of accounting assets and leverage ratio exposures: 
 

2020

Total assets as per published financial statements 163,485,888         
Adjustments for derivative instruments 260,773               
Other adjustments

Deduction for intangible assets (4,183,873)            

Leverage ratio exposure 159,562,788
 

 
The table in the following page shows the different on balance sheet exposures in relation to the 
calculation of the leverage ratio. 
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5. Leverage (continued) 

 
 

monitored using a leverage ratio metric within our Risk Appetite Statement. The Risk Appetite 
Statement articulates the type and level of risk that the Bank is willing to accept in its business 
activities in order to achieve its strategic business objectives. The Risk Appetite Statement is 
monitored via the risk dashboard, which includes comparisons of actual performance against the risk 
appetite and tolerance thresholds assigned to each metric, to ensure that any excessive risk is 
highlighted, assessed and mitigated appropriately. The risk dashboard is monitored monthly and 
presented to the Risk Oversight Committee on a quarterly basis.  
 
The Bank manages the risk of excessive leverage by ensuring a sound relationship between the size 
of the Tier 1 capital and the sum of the on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet exposures.  It should 
however be noted that the leverage ratio of the Bank typically exceeds significantly the minimum 

 
 
6. Other directorships 

 

2014, a credit institution is considered significant if any one of the following conditions is met: 
 

-  unless the total value of its assets is below 
 exceeds 20% of national GDP; 

- it is one of the three most significant credit institutions established in a Member State; 

- it is a recipient of direct assistance from the European Stability Mechanism; or 

- -border assets/liabilities 
in more than one other participating Member State to its total assets/liabilities is above 20%. 

 
Credorax Bank Limited does not meet any of the above criteria, and therefore is currently not 
considered significant by banking supervisors.  Accordingly, the Bank is exempt from the 
requirements of article 91 of CRD IV. 
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6. Other directorships (continued) 

The 
the table below: 

 
For the purpose of the above disclosure, the number of other directorships held within the same group 
are counted as a single directorship.  

 
7. Recruitment and diversity policy 

 
The Bank is aware that a vigorous and professional approach to recruitment and selection of 
prospective members of the Board of Directors and management or other employees within the Bank 
helps it to attract and appoint those individuals having the necessary skills and attributes compatible 

required by Maltese legislation and in line with policy. 
 
The Bank undertakes a rigorous selection process for all prospective members of the Board and 
management together with other employees, bearing in mind the key activities, tasks and skills 
required for the vacant position. As part of the selection process, multiple interviews are conducted, 

those of other individuals. 
 

Bearing its objectives in mind, the Bank endeavours to appoint directors with diverse skills and 
expertise that allow the Board to create value for shareholders by ensuring that the specific risks 
pursued by the Bank in the acquiring and payment processing services, as well as risks that are 
intrinsic to banking bu
approach.  The Bank will continue to promote this diversity by recruiting the ideal individual for the 

lity, sexual orientation, 
identity or preference. 

 
 
 

 
  

Director Position 
Number of other 

directorships held 
   
Binyamin Nachman Non-Executive Director 2 
Frederick Ellul  Non-Executive Director 2 
Nathan Shaked  Executive Director 2 
Igal Rotem  Executive Director - 
David Blumberg  Non-Executive Director 14 
Tonio Fenech  Non-Executive Director 3 
Anthony Depasquale Non-Executive Director 8 
Aviram Shemer Executive Director - 
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5 Year Summary 
 
Statements of financial position  
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5 Year Summary 
 
Statements of comprehensive income 
 

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Interest and similar income 780,529        845,374        386,868        312,096        83,846          
Interest expense (687,854)      (99,032)        (27,580)        (8,360)          -                   

Interest Income 92,675          746,342        359,288        303,736        83,846          

Fee and commission income 104,990,717 88,653,599   88,808,591   67,189,044   50,025,012   
Fee and commission expense (72,808,442) (64,411,453) (67,899,851) (55,263,381) (41,093,220) 

Net fee and commission expense 32,182,275   24,242,146   20,908,740   11,925,663   8,931,792     

Net trading income 13,422,850   10,189,005   8,452,897     4,075,770     2,330,055     
Net income from financial instruments measured
at FVPL

5,258,082     2,771,647     563,812        35,875          17,590          

Gain on disposal of membership interest in Visa
Europe

-                   -                   -                   -                   19,248,515   

Operating income 50,955,882   37,949,140   30,284,737   16,341,044   30,611,798   

Employee compensation and benefits (6,723,127)   (6,231,390)   (6,187,757)   (6,333,563)   (7,426,329)   
General and administration expenses (41,847,748) (17,676,547) (7,584,836)   (5,014,762)   (3,961,429)   
Net impairment charges -                   -                   -                   (1,306,695)   247,870        
Reversal of provision for future chargebacks -                   500,000        920,352        -                   -                   
Changes in expected credit losses and other
impairment 
allow ances

(246,095)      11,638          (1,258,171)   -                   -                   

Depreciation and amortisation expense                          (1,881,432)   (1,052,959)   (738,884)      (301,828)      (312,011)      

(Loss)/Profit before tax 257,480        13,499,882   15,435,441   3,384,196     19,159,899   

Income tax credit/(expense) 430,684        (266,764)      (4,813,865)   (451,907)      50,006          

Profit for the year 688,164        13,233,118   10,621,576   2,932,289     19,209,905   

Other comprehensive income:
Net changes in fair value arising during the 
year, before tax

255,016        -                   -                   441,043        3,553,501     

Fair value gains reclassif ied to profit or loss 
on disposal

-                   -                   -                   -                   (19,248,515) 

Income tax relating to components of other 
comprehensive income

(12,751)        -                   -                   -                   -                   

Other comprehensive income for the year 
net of tax

242,265        -                   -                   441,043        (15,695,014) 

Total comprehensive income for the year 930,429        13,233,118   10,621,576   3,373,332     3,514,891     
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5 Year Summary 
 
Statements of cash flows 
 

 
 
 
 




